
 

Meeting contact Ruth Rimmington on 01257 515118 or email ruth.rimmington@chorley.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Council 
Tuesday, 19th April 2022, 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Chorley and YouTube   
 
Agenda 
  
Apologies 

 
1 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 22 February 2022 of Council   

 
(Pages 3 - 18) 

2 Declarations of Any Interests 

 
 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any pecuniary interest 
in respect of matters contained in this agenda. 
 
If you have a pecuniary interest you must withdraw from the meeting. Normally 
you should leave the room before the business starts to be discussed. You do, 
however, have the same right to speak as a member of the public and may 
remain in the room to enable you to exercise that right and then leave 
immediately. In either case you must not seek to improperly influence a 
decision on the matter. 

 

 

3 Mayoral Announcements   

 
 

4 Public Questions 

 
 

 Members of the public who have requested the opportunity to ask question(s) 
on any item(s) on the agenda will have three minutes to put their question(s) to 
the relevant Councillor. Members of the public will be allowed to ask one short 
supplementary question. 
 
To view the procedure for public questions/ speaking click here and scroll to 
page 119 

 

 

5 Executive Cabinet 

 
(Pages 19 - 22) 

 To consider a general report of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet held on 
24 February.   

 

 

6 Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Task and Finish Groups 

 
(Pages 23 - 32) 

 To receive and consider the general report of the meetings of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee held on 27 January and 17 March, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Performance Panel held on 10 March and Task Group update. 

 

 

https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/documents/g8112/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Jan-2020%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1
https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/documents/g8112/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Jan-2020%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1


 

 

7 Governance Committee 

 
(Pages 33 - 36) 

 To receive and consider the general report of the Governance Committee held 
on 16 March.   

 

 

8 Decarbonisation of the Town Hall 

 
(Pages 37 - 84) 

 To receive and consider the report of the Director of Planning and 
Development.  

 

 

9 Appointment of Chief Executive 

 
(Pages 85 - 88) 

 To receive and consider the report of the Chief Executive.  

 
 

10 Questions Asked under Council Procedure Rule 8 (if any)   

 
 

11 To consider the Notices of Motion (if any) given in accordance with 
Council procedure Rule 10   

 

 

12 Any urgent business previously agreed with the Mayor   

 
 

 
Gary Hall  

Chief Executive 
 
Electronic agendas sent to Members of the Council.  
 

If you need this information in a different format, such as larger print or 
translation, please get in touch on 515151 or chorley.gov.uk 



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 
 
 
Minutes of Council 
 
Meeting date Tuesday, 22 February 2022 
 
Committee  
Members present: 

Councillor Steve Holgate (Mayor), Julia Berry Councillor  
(Deputy Mayor) and Councillors Sarah Ainsworth, 
Aaron Beaver, Martin Boardman, Alistair Bradley, 
Sam Chapman, Mark Clifford, Alan Cullens, 
Magda Cullens, John  Dalton, Gordon France, 
Margaret France, Peter Gabbott, Danny Gee, Tom Gray, 
Harold Heaton, Terry Howarth, Keith Iddon, Hasina Khan, 
Samir Khan, Zara Khan, Adrian Lowe, June Molyneaux, 
Alistair Morwood, Beverley Murray, James Nevett, 
Alan Platt, Debra Platt, Aidy Riggott, Jean Sherwood, 
Kim Snape, William Simmance, Christine Turner, 
John Walker, Jenny Whiffen and Alan Whittaker 

  
Committee 
Members present  
virtually  
(non-voting): 

Councillors Roy Lees and Peter Wilson 

  
Officers: Gary Hall (Chief Executive), Chris Sinnott (Deputy Chief 

Executive), Chris Moister (Director of Governance), 
Louise Mattinson (Director of Finance), Asim Khan 
(Director of Customer and Digital), Jennifer Mullin (Director 
of Communities), Jonathan Noad (Director of Planning and 
Development) and Ruth Rimmington (Democratic Services 
Team Leader) 

  
Apologies: Councillor Karen Derbyshire, Alex Hilton, Roy Lees and 

Matthew Lynch  
 
One member of the public attended via teams and one in person.   
 

22.C.18 Declarations of Any Interests 
 
There were no declarations of interests received. 
 

22.C.19 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 25 January 2022 of Council 
 
Decision (unanimous) that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 25 
January 2022 be approved as a correct record for signature by the Mayor. 
 
 
 

Agenda Page 3 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

22.C.20 Mayoral Announcements 
 
The Mayor advised that the 007 Casino Royale Charity Ball will be held on 26 March.  
There will also be a Chorley In Bloom Gardening Event on 19 March.  
 
The Mayor explained he had attended a Runshaw College Apprenticeship Awards 
ceremony and noted how impressed he had been on meeting the apprentices. 
 

22.C.21 Public Questions 
 
A question was received from Andy Hunter-Rossall who attended the meeting virtually 
and asked the question of the Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley.  
 
Question one “I am disappointed to read that “The proposed Cycling Task Group 
stalled due to lack of response from Members”. According to ONS data for 2019-20 
about 14% of adults in Chorley cycle at least once per week, with many more cycling 
less frequently. I would hope that even if members are not cyclists themselves they 
would be keen to represent the interests of this significant portion of Chorley residents. 
Given the positive impact on our health, our environment, and on reducing traffic; and 
given that Active Travel England will soon be grading authorities on their performance 
on active travel, will the Council commit to attempting again to start a Cycling Task 
Group.” 
 
Councillor Bradley responded and noted that members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee set their work program and there were a number of other competing 
priority areas requiring focus, including Select Move housing and school places which 
are also of interest to many residents and Councillors. 
 
Despite the Overview and Scrutiny Committee deciding not to proceed with the current 
proposed Cycling Task Group, other avenues were being pursued within the Council 
to begin work with the support of Officers and Members to meet and achieve targets in 
place and set for 2030, to overcome an at times perceived negativity and prejudice 
towards cycling. 
 
Lancashire County Council was ultimately responsible for transport infrastructure 
including cycling, however, within Chorley Council, conversations and plans were 
underway to improve, incentivise and promote cycling across the borough.  
 
Further exploration into transport and cycling policy proposals were also underway. 
Cycling was interwoven into various policies, including but not limited to, the green 
agenda, air quality, health, infrastructure, planning and development.  
 
The next monitoring report for the ‘Overview and Scrutiny Task Group: Sustainable 
Public Transport’ would be presented at the 17 March meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The Climate Change Working Group would be undertaking some 
work in this area and, following completion, a report on cycling would be presented to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor John Walker, 
supported the comments made by the Leader and invited Mr Hunter-Rossall to attend 
the meeting on 17 March.   
 

Agenda Page 4 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

Question two “After the closure of the bingo hall in Chorley Town Centre, I was 
disappointed that the Council could see nothing better to do with the site than yet 
another car park. Simultaneously, we are losing significant areas of green space 
across the borough to new build homes, often in places that are far from amenities 
and poorly served by public transport. This strategy of homes that are distant and town 
centres full of car parks creates car dependency and induces traffic. Many forward-
thinking towns and cities around the world are moving away from this model of 
“zoning” and towards models of 15-minute neighbourhoods, where housing is built 
within a short walk or cycle from key amenities like shops, schools, health services 
and railway stations, reducing dependence on cars. This brings benefits to health, air 
quality and reduces our environmental impact, as well as creating strong 
neighbourhoods. Will the Council consider whether town centre sites such as the 
former bingo hall could be used for housing, revitalising our town centre and saving 
our green spaces at the same time?” 
 
Councillor Bradley explained that the car park in place opposite the town hall was a 
temporary measure to best utilise a brownfield site for town centre businesses.  This 
was whilst the full redevelopment scheme was progressed through the governments 
Levelling Up Fund.  Chorley was classified as a category 2 town and could not apply 
as yet.  
 
A previous bid for Future High Street Funds to develop the site for mixed use was also 
unsuccessful.  This was partly due to the presence of the bingo hall being a risk to 
progress and when the opportunity arose, through the impacts on that industry of 
Covid, the council took the decision to ready the site for the next round of funding 
available and thereby de-risk delivery.  
 
No decision has yet been made on the definitive future of the site and Chorley 
residents would be consulted upon any future proposals.  Those proposals were likely 
to include some public open space and some environmental improvements to the town 
centre 
  
In recent years the demise of bus services had meant many rural residents have no 
choice but to use their cars to get to the town centre to support local businesses, 
independent traders and markets.  Without the capacity to cater for these vehicles at 
times when people want to come in to town the lack of parking could lead to online 
shopping as an alternative and have a detrimental effect on the town centre’s vitality.  
 
It could also be argued that is far more environmentally preferable for Chorley 
residents to travel by car at low speeds into the town centre on short journeys than to 
take long high speed journeys to Liverpool and Manchester. 
 
The council experience congestion on existing town centre car parks and as a result, it 
is not uncommon for residents to cruise around looking for vacant short stay spaces. 
This damages the environment and resident’s health and the temporary car park 
would alleviate some of that behaviour. 
 
The council has a proud record of increasing residential numbers in the town centre 
and the successful town centre policy was not only based upon this shift, but also 
supports the high-density housing that often results. 
 
 
 

Agenda Page 5 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

22.C.22 Re-opening of Astley Hall 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the report of the Deputy 
Chief Executive with proposals for re-opening Astley Hall following the extensive 
renovations. This included the introduction of an admission fee to support the long-
term sustainability of one of the most historic and landmark attractions in the borough. 
 
Councillor Aidy Riggott expressed his view that, whilst charges were appropriate for 
weddings, an entrance charge to the Hall should not be levied as this might damage 
the visitor economy.  Councillor Bradley explained that it was not viable for the council 
to maintain the Hall without the fee, and that feedback had been received that people 
would pay a small fee to visit the Hall.    
 
Councillor Aidy Riggott proposed, and Councillor Martin Boardman seconded an 
amendment that only recommendations 3 and 4 be approved.   
 
A vote was undertaken and the amendment was lost (by majority).  
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member 
for Customer and Streetscene Services, Councillor Adrian Lowe seconded the (by 
majority) Decision 
1. To introduce an admission fee for entry into Astley Hall as set out in this 

report. 
2. To agree a concessionary rate for residents. 
3. To note the increased opening hours of the Hall to provide more 

opportunities for people to visit. 
4. To approve the other related fees and charges, including weddings, as set 

out in Appendix A. 
 

22.C.23 Fair Collection Charter 
 
The Executive Member (Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian 
Lowe, presented the report of the of the Director of Customer and Digital which 
proposed that a Fair Collection Charter be adopted.  The report also highlighted the 
measures already adopted to help financially vulnerable customers. 
 
Adopting the measures outlined would achieve the council’s objective of taking a more 
ethical approach to collection including a more supportive recovery process and best 
practice affordability and means testing.  They would also lead to improved working 
relationships with debt advice partners and increased referral and intervention.   
 
Debt could be a determinant of wider issues and adoption of these measures would 
help to ensure a joined-up approach to managing residents and local businesses 
experiencing issues.  Where residents have no means to pay there would be no 
benefit in pursuing enforcement action, incurring additional costs and increasing their 
vulnerability impacting upon mental health, well-being and self-confidence. This also 
places additional demand on public services.  
 
The Executive Member (Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian 
Lowe, proposed and the Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley seconded the 
(unanimous) Decision 
 
 

Agenda Page 6 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

1. To adopt the new Fair Collection Charter. 
2. To delegate authority to the Executive Member (Customer and Streetscene 

Services) to approve cost-neutral changes to the policy.   
 

22.C.24 Future development of shared services 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the report of the Chief 
Executive which set out the options and proposals for the future development of the 
councils’ shared services relationship. These proposals were endorsed by a majority 
of the Shared Services Joint Committee at an informal meeting on 10 February.   
 
The additional capacity would ensure that the councils were able to deliver key 
priorities and services.  The options for the next steps in shared services and the 
broad advantages and disadvantages to each approach were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor Sam Chapman noted that good progress has been made with shared 
services, but queried the timing of the proposals given the need to recruit a new Chief 
Executive in the next year. 
 
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, proposed and the Deputy 
Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Debra Platt, seconded that the vote be split to 
vote on recommendations 3, 4 and 5 separately.   
 
A vote was undertaken and the amendment was lost (by majority). 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member 
(Planning and Development, Councillor Alistair Morwood seconded the (by majority) 
Decision 
1. That the principles for the shared services relationship with South Ribble 

Borough Council set out at paragraph 23 be approved. 
2. That the approach to the future development of shared services set out at 

paragraph 24 be approved. 
3. To approve the creation of a Strategic Lead (Future Investments) as a 

shared post. 
4. To approve the creation of a Director of Change and Delivery as a shared 

post. 
5. To approve for consultation the creation of a permanent shared 

arrangement for development projects, with authority delegated to the 
Leader to approve the final arrangements. 

6. To approve for consultation the creation of a shared pest control service, 
with authority delegated to the Leader to approve the final arrangements. 

7. To adjust the membership of the Shared Services Joint Appointments 
Panel to include one additional Cabinet Member from each council, in 
recognition of the central role that shared services now plays in the 
appointment of Chief Officers. 

 
22.C.25 Recruitment of Chief Executive 

 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the report of the Chief 
Executive which set out proposals for the recruitment of a new Chief Executive.  The 
decision was necessary to ensure continuity of delivery of the role Chief 
Executive/Head of Paid Service. 
 

Agenda Page 7 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

As a shared post, the Shared Services Appointment Panel would be responsible for 
undertaking the recruitment and making a recommendation to the full council meetings 
for an appointment. It was intended that in the first instance that the post would be 
advertised internally with external recruitment undertaken if an internal appointment 
was not made.  The recruitment process would be supported by an external advisor 
(such as North West Employers).   
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member 
(Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian Lowe seconded the 
(unanimous) Decision 
To approve the proposals for the recruitment for a new Chief Executive 
 

22.C.26 Revenue Budget 2022/23, Medium Term Financial  Strategy and Capital 
Programme 2022-2025 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the Executive's Revenue 
Budget 2022/23, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Programme 2022-2025.   
 
Councillor Bradley thanked the officers, the Executive Member Resources,  
Councillor Peter Wilson and Labour Group for their hard work and input into the 
proposed budget.  He thanked all the staff working for the council for their 
contributions in delivering services during the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
The 2022/23 budget and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the next 3 
years have been updated to take account the continued pressures on council budgets, 
alongside reduced levels of funding from government to meet these increasing costs.  
The figures include a proposed 1.99% increase in council tax in 2022/23 and a 
proposed 1.99% increase in council tax in 2023/24.  From 2024/25 proposals be 
revisited each year as part of the budget setting process and would be dependent 
upon the outcome of the government’s reviews of both the future funding framework 
and the future distribution of funding between councils as a consequence of the Fair 
Funding Review, the review of the business rates system and the development of the 
‘Levelling-Up’ agenda.   
 
Continued investment was reflected in ongoing revenue budgets to ensure delivery of 
corporate strategy priorities, and additional investment of almost £1.0m had been 
identified for 2022/23 to support this.  Capital investments of over £56.0m were 
included in respect of corporate priority projects over the period of the MTFS. 
 
Councillor Bradley referred to the achievements of the council in recent years, and the 
plans within the Corporate Strategy, which would be delivered by the proposed 
budget, including   
 
Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all 
continue to work with our residents to address climate change and achieve our 
commitment of being a carbon neutral council by 2030.   
A strong local economy providing support and grants for businesses and developing 
our approach to apprenticeships, graduate and training posts in areas of high market 
demand and supporting people into high quality employment 
Clean, safe and healthy communities investing in local play and community 
facilities, supporting the delivery of affordable homes and improving our leisure 
centres 

Agenda Page 8 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the 
local area making improvements across the borough, supporting our young people, 
health and wellbeing and local areas. 
 
The council continues to invest in the borough and this budget includes £56.0m of 
capital investment from 2022/23 to 2024/25. This includes investment in a new GP 
surgery in Whittle-le-Woods, another extra care facility, with a GP surgery at Tatton 
ensuring that public services continue to become more accessible, continuing to 
improve the town centre and markets offer as well as investing in play and open 
spaces and in improved affordable housing. The council will continue its success of 
investing in assets that benefit residents and businesses whilst also generating a net 
income to the council. 
 
The Executive Member (Customer and Streetscene Services) Councillor Adrian Lowe 
supported the proposed budget and noted the challenges faced by the council and 
how the funding gap was proposed to be bridged.  
 
Before moving to the vote, the Mayor asked the Leader of the Opposition, Councillor 
Martin Boardman, to present their amendment. 
 

22.C.27 Conservative Group Amendment to Budget 
 
Shadow Cabinet Member (Finance, Shared Services and Governance), Councillor 
Sam Chapman expressed his thanks to the Conservative group and officers for their 
contribution to the proposed amendment.  
 
Councillor Chapman set out the proposed amendment, how these would be funded 
and referenced the current rise in the cost of living.  The amendment referenced   
1. A freeze in Council Tax,  
2. Free parking on Council car parks for Battery Electric Vehicles 
3. Improved access to Youth Zone facilities for young people in rural areas. 
4. A feasibility study around developing drop-in customer service facilities for  
vulnerable residents in rural areas. 
 
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, supported the 
amendment, particularly regarding the Youth Zone and customer services.   
 
In debating the proposals put forward by the opposition, Members raised issues 
around the green agenda, the benefits of the administration’s investment strategy to 
date, the benefits of apprenticeships and the freezing of council tax.   
 
There was general support for the proposals around the proposals 2, 3 and 4.  
 
Members then debated the Revenue Budget 2022/23, Medium Term Financial 
Strategy and Capital Programme 2022-2025.   
 
Members supported the proposals relating to supporting and subsidising bus services, 
the green agenda, the GP surgery at Whittle and tackling health inequalities.   
 
Councillor Christine Turner requested that a briefing note be circulated to all members 
explaining special expenses.   
 

Agenda Page 9 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

Following a query relating to section 106 contributions from developers relating to 
Buckshaw Village Railway Station Councillor Bradley agreed to discuss the issue with 
Lancashire County Council.   
 
The Mayor called a short adjournment to take legal advice regarding the amendment 
at 8.20pm.  
 
Amendment 
 
The adoption of the Alternative Budget as set out in the report, was moved as an 
amendment by the Shadow Cabinet Member (Finance, Shared Services and 
Governance), Councillor Sam Chapman and seconded by the Leader of the 
Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman. 
 
In line with the legal requirement for all budget decisions to be recorded, this proposal 
was put to the vote and recorded as follows: 
 
For: Councillors Martin Boardman, Sam Chapman, Alan Cullens, Magda Cullens, John 
Dalton, Harold Heaton, Keith Iddon, Alan Platt, Debra Platt, Aidy Riggott, William 
Simmance, Christine Turner, John Walker.   
 
Against: Councillors Sarah Ainsworth, Aaron Beaver, Julia Berry (Deputy Mayor), 
Alistair Bradley, Mark Clifford, Gordon France, Margaret France, Peter Gabbott, 
Danny Gee, Tom Gray, Steve Holgate (Mayor), Terry Howarth, Hasina Khan, Samir 
Khan, Zara Khan, Adrian Lowe, June Molyneaux, Alistair Morwood, Beverley Murray, 
James Nevett, Jean Sherwood, Kim Snape, Jenny Whiffen, Alan Whittaker 
 
The vote was lost (13:24:0).   
 
Substantive motion 
 
The substantive motion, as indicated in Agenda Item 9 was proposed by the Executive 
Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, and seconded by the Executive Member 
(Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian Lowe, was then put to the 
vote. 
 
In line with the legal requirement for all budget decisions to be recorded, this proposal 
was put to the vote and recorded as follows: 
 
For: Councillors Sarah Ainsworth, Aaron Beaver, Julia Berry (Deputy Mayor), Alistair 
Bradley, Mark Clifford, Gordon France, Margaret France, Peter Gabbott, Danny Gee, 
Tom Gray, Steve Holgate (Mayor), Terry Howarth, Hasina Khan, Samir Khan, Zara 
Khan, Adrian Lowe, June Molyneaux, Alistair Morwood, Beverley Murray, James 
Nevett, Jean Sherwood, Kim Snape, Jenny Whiffen, Alan Whittaker 
 
Against: Councillors Martin Boardman, Sam Chapman, Alan Cullens, Magda Cullens, 
John Dalton, Harold Heaton, Keith Iddon, Alan Platt, Debra Platt, Aidy Riggott, William 
Simmance, Christine Turner, John Walker.   
 
The vote was carried by majority (24:13:0), and it was therefore a Decision 
That the budget and proposals as set out in the report in item 9 and supporting 
appendices be approved to include: 

Agenda Page 10 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

a) Approve the budget and proposals set out in this report, including the level of 
Council Tax as set out in the Formal Council Tax Resolution, including Special 
Expenses & Parish Precepts 2022/23, at Appendix A; 
b) Note the advice of the Chief Finance Officer in relation to the robustness of 
the estimates within the overall budget, including the risks contained within it 
and the adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves, as set out in the 
Statutory Report at Appendices B1 – B3; 
c) Approve the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) at Appendix 
C; 
d) Note the council’s forecast Cumulative Budget Deficit and Budget Strategy 
2021-22to 2024-25 at Appendix D; 
e) Note the analysis of the movement in the 2022/23 Budget from the position  
approved by Council in February 2021 at Appendix E; 
f) Approve the capital programme for 2021/22 to 2024/25 (Appendices F1, F2 & 
F3); 
g) Approve the Capital Strategy at Appendix G; 
h) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy at Appendix H and note the 
advice of the treasury management consultants at Appendix H1; 
i) Approve the council’s Pay Policy at Appendix I for publication on the council’s  
website from April 2022; 
j) Note the budget consultation 2022/23 Report at Appendix J; 
k) Note the Assessing the Impact of Budget Proposals 2022/23 Report at 
Appendix K. 
 
FORMAL COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION 

1.  It be noted that on 19th January 2022 the Director of Finance as Statutory 
Finance Officer calculated the Council Tax Base 2022/23 
(a) for the whole Council area as 38,108.00 [Item T in the formula in Section 31B 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the "Act")] ; and 
(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates (as in 
the attached Table 2). 

2.  Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 
2022/23 (excluding Parish precepts) is £7,608,587 

3.  That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2022/23 in accordance with 
Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 

(a) £54,903,347 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates 
for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts 
issued to it by Parish Councils. 

(b) £46,544,738 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates 
for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act. 

(c) £8,358,609 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds 
the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year. (Item R in 
the formula in Section 31B of the Act). 

(d) £219.34 being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (1(a) 
above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as 
the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish precepts). 

(e) £1,565,533 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Special Expenses 
and Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as in the attached 
Table 1). 

(f) £178.26 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the 
amount at 3(e) above by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in 

Agenda Page 11 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax 
for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no Parish precept 
relates. 

4. To note that the County Council, the Police Authority and the Fire Authority have 
issued precepts to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the Council’s 
area as indicated in the table below. 

5. That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the 
tables below as the amounts of Council Tax for 2022/23 for each part of its area 
and for each of the categories of dwellings. 

 
VALUATION BANDS 

        CHORLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
     

        A B C D E F G H 

118.84 138.65 158.45 178.26 217.87 257.49 297.10 356.52 

        LANCASHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL 

     
        A B C D E F G H 

1,009.53 1,177.78 1,346.04 1,514.29 1,850.80 2,187.31 2,523.82 3,028.58 

        POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 
   

        A B C D E F G H 

157.63 183.91 210.18 236.45 288.99 341.54 394.08 472.90 

        LANCASHIRE COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY 
– At time of writing this report figure are as 
proposed and will be confirmed at authorities 
meeting on 21

st
 February 2022 

    
        A B C D E F G H 

51.51 60.10 68.68 77.27 94.44 111.61 128.78 154.54 

        AGGREGATE OF COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENTS 
   

        A B C D E F G H 

1,337.51 1,560.44 1,783.35 2,006.27 2,452.10 2,897.95 3,343.78 4,012.54 

 

6. That the Statutory Finance Officer and his officers be authorised to take any 
action necessary to ensure collection and recovery of the Council Tax and Non-
Domestic Rates. 
7.  As the Council’s basic amount of Council Tax has increased by 1.99% for 
2022/23, it is considered not excessive in accordance with principles approved under 
Section 52ZB Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

Agenda Page 12 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 

 

EXPLANATION OF COUNCIL TAX SETTING RESOLUTION 

 

RESOLUTION 1 

(a) Before we can calculate the Council Tax to be charged, we first have to 
calculate the Council Tax base.  The Council Tax base is the amount which a Band 
D Council Tax of £1.00 would raise.  For 2022/23 we estimate that a £1.00 Council 
Tax at Band D would raise £38,108.00 in the Chorley area. 

(b) This shows the “base” figure for each Parish in the area.   For example, a £1.00 
Band D Council Tax in Adlington would raise £2,035.80. 

RESOLUTION 2 

This shows the Council’s net spending for 2022/23 excluding the cost of Parish 
precepts. 

RESOLUTION 3 

(a) This is the grand total of money which the Council estimates it will spend on all 
services in 2022/23.  It also includes £750,022 which Parish Councils need to run 
their services. 

(b) This is the grand total of money which the Council estimates it will receive from 
various sources in the year.  This includes Central Government and business rates, 
car park charges, investment income, government grants in respect of benefits, etc. 

(c) This is the difference between 2(a) and 2(b) and is in effect the Council’s and 
Parishes net spending on services. 

(d) The difference between 2(a) and 2(b) is £8,358,609 and this is the amount we 
need to charge Council Taxpayers.  This is divided by the base (see 1(a) above) 
and the resulting figure of £219.34 is the average Band D Council Tax for all 
Borough and Parish services. 

(e) The total of all the amounts needed from Council Taxpayers by the Parish 
Councils in the area and for Chorley Borough Special Expenses. 

(f) This is the Band D Council Tax for Chorley Borough Council’s own services, ie. 
excluding Parish Council spending and Special Expenses 

RESOLUTION 4 

Lancashire County Council, Lancashire Fire Authority and the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for Lancashire are separate bodies who have worked out their own 
estimates of spending and income for 2022/23 and have set taxes in a similar way 
to Chorley Borough Council.  This resolution notes their decisions. 

Agenda Page 13 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 

RESOLUTION 5 

This pulls together the Council Taxes for Chorley Borough Council, Lancashire 
County Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner for Lancashire and Lancashire 
Fire Authority.  For example, the aggregate amount for Band D is £2,006.27 made 
up as follows: 

 

 
 
 
Chorley Borough Council 
Lancashire County Council 
Lancashire Police Authority 
Lancashire Fire Authority 
 

 
£ 

 
178.26 

1,514.2
9 

  
236.45 

77.27 
 

 

The rate for each property Band is calculated by reference to the Band D charge.  
The following ratios apply: 

    

 
 
 
 

Band A 
Band B 
Band C 
Band D 
Band E 
Band F 
Band G 
Band H 

6/9
 ths of Band D 

 7
9
 ths of Band D 

 8
9
 ths of Band D 

 9
9
 ths of Band D 

11/9
 ths of Band D 

13/9
 ths of Band D 

15/9
 ths of Band D 

18/9
 ths of Band D 

 

 

The aggregate charge for Band A, for example, the charge is £2,006.27 x 6 ÷ 9 = 
£1,337.51; for Band B it is £2,006.27 x 7 ÷ 9 = £1,560.44. 

RESOLUTION 6 

Formally authorise the necessary staff to take legal action to collect arrears as and 
when this is necessary.  For the vast majority of taxpayers, this is not needed 

 

Agenda Page 14 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 
 

Lancashire County Council 1,009.53 1,177.78 1,346.04 1,514.29 1,850.80 2,187.31 2,523.82 3,028.58 

118.84    138.65    158.45    178.26    217.87    257.49    297.10    356.52    

157.63    183.91    210.18    236.45    288.99    341.54    394.08    472.90    

Lancashire Fire Authority 51.51     60.10     68.68     77.27     94.44     111.61    128.78    154.54    

Sub Total 1,337.51 1,560.44 1,783.35 2,006.27 2,452.10 2,897.95 3,343.78 4,012.54 

Parish and town 

councils

Total Parish 

precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Special 

Expenses

Parish 

Precept

Adlington £19,000.00 3.61       5.63       4.22       6.56       4.82       7.50       5.42       8.44       6.62       10.32     7.83       12.19     9.03       14.07     10.84     16.88     

Anderton £5,200.00 1.53       6.55       1.79       7.64       2.04       8.73       2.30       9.82       2.81       12.00     3.32       14.18     3.83       16.37     4.60       19.64     

Anglezarke £0.00 -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Astley Village £24,274.00 20.30     14.67     23.68     17.11     27.07     19.56     30.45     22.00     37.22     26.89     43.98     31.78     50.75     36.67     60.90     44.00     

Bretherton £15,450.00 -         33.03     -         38.53     -         44.04     -         49.54     -         60.55     -         71.56     -         82.57     -         99.08     

Brindle £6,800.00 3.51       9.33       4.09       10.89     4.68       12.44     5.26       14.00     6.43       17.11     7.60       20.22     8.77       23.33     10.52     28.00     

Charnock Richard £32,000.00 2.89       30.95     3.37       36.10     3.85       41.26     4.33       46.42     5.29       56.74     6.25       67.05     7.22       77.37     8.66       92.84     

Clayton le Woods £139,963.00 28.23     16.67     32.94     19.44     37.64     22.22     42.35     25.00     51.76     30.56     61.17     36.11     70.58     41.67     84.70     50.00     

Coppull £110,330.00 5.93       28.54     6.92       33.30     7.91       38.05     8.90       42.81     10.88     52.32     12.86     61.84     14.83     71.35     17.80     85.62     

Croston £25,970.00 6.94       15.12     8.10       17.64     9.25       20.16     10.41     22.68     12.72     27.72     15.04     32.76     17.35     37.80     20.82     45.36     

Cuerden £1,290.00 8.52       20.54     9.94       23.96     11.36     27.39     12.78     30.81     15.62     37.66     18.46     44.50     21.30     51.35     25.56     61.62     

Eccleston £47,480.00 3.63       18.27     4.23       21.31     4.84       24.36     5.44       27.40     6.65       33.49     7.86       39.58     9.07       45.67     10.88     54.80     

Euxton £176,000.00 12.73     23.64     14.86     27.58     16.98     31.52     19.10     35.46     23.34     43.34     27.59     51.22     31.83     59.10     38.20     70.92     

Heapey £9,150.00 13.01     15.82     15.17     18.46     17.34     21.09     19.51     23.73     23.85     29.00     28.18     34.28     32.52     39.55     39.02     47.46     

Heath Charnock £8,200.00 15.81     6.50       18.45     7.58       21.08     8.67       23.72     9.75       28.99     11.92     34.26     14.08     39.53     16.25     47.44     19.50     

Heskin £14,196.00 1.63       24.57     1.90       28.67     2.17       32.76     2.44       36.86     2.98       45.05     3.52       53.24     4.07       61.43     4.88       73.72     

Hoghton £6,000.00 5.12       10.72     5.97       12.51     6.83       14.29     7.68       16.08     9.39       19.65     11.09     23.23     12.80     26.80     15.36     32.16     

Mawdesley £33,169.00 1.01       25.43     1.17       29.67     1.34       33.91     1.51       38.15     1.85       46.63     2.18       55.11     2.52       63.58     3.02       76.30     

Rivington £2,500.00 -         28.41     -         33.14     -         37.88     -         42.61     -         52.08     -         61.55     -         71.02     -         85.22     

Ulnes Walton £6,300.00 -         15.57     -         18.16     -         20.76     -         23.35     -         28.54     -         33.73     -         38.92     -         46.70     

Wheelton £14,976.00 -         23.43     -         27.33     -         31.24     -         35.14     -         42.95     -         50.76     -         58.57     -         70.28     

Whittle le Woods £59,070.00 15.75     15.37     18.38     17.93     21.00     20.49     23.63     23.05     28.88     28.17     34.13     33.29     39.38     38.42     47.26     46.10     

Withnell £31,000.00 6.46       15.75     7.54       18.37     8.61       21.00     9.69       23.62     11.84     28.87     14.00     34.12     16.15     39.37     19.38     47.24     

All other parts of the Council's area 19.95     -         23.27     -         26.60     -         29.92     -         36.57     -         43.22     -         49.87     -         59.84     -         

Band C

Police & Crime Commissioner for 

Lancashire

Chorley Borough Council    

(Excluding Special Expenses)

Band A Band B Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

 

Agenda Page 15 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 

Parish Council Tax Precepts Council Tax Tax Precepts Council Tax C Tax

Base £ Band D (£) Base £ Band D (£) Increase

Adlington 2,021.10     19,000        8.50 2,035.80     19,000        8.44 -0.06

Anderton 495.80        5,100          9.69 499.80        5,200          9.82 0.13

Anglezarke 23.70          -             0.00 20.20          -             0.00 0.00

Astley Village 924.90        24,227        22.00 927.20        24,274        22.00 0.00

Bretherton 296.40        14,630        47.96 303.50        15,450        49.54 1.58

Brindle 459.20        6,800          14.21 466.10        6,800          14.00 -0.21

Charnock Richard 668.00        30,000        44.39 681.90        32,000        46.42 2.03

Clayton le Woods 5,026.90     122,050      22.00 5,140.20     139,963      25.00 3.00

Coppull 2,288.20     102,000      39.95 2,330.20     110,330      42.81 2.86

Croston 1,058.50     25,490        22.72 1,081.70     25,970        22.68 -0.04

Cuerden 41.20          1,290          31.26 41.80          1,290          30.81 -0.45

Eccleston 1,649.30     46,830        27.40 1,673.30     47,480        27.40 0.00

Euxton 4,791.80     167,120      34.52 4,914.50     176,000      35.46 0.94

Heapey 370.10        9,110          23.73 371.80        9,150          23.73 0.00

Heath Charnock 795.00        7,800          9.39 806.90        8,200          9.75 0.36

Heskin 362.90        14,196        37.62 370.40        14,196        36.86 -0.76

Hoghton 352.40        6,000          16.55 362.70        6,000          16.08 -0.47

Mawdesley 822.00        32,203        38.21 848.60        33,169        38.15 -0.06

Rivington 55.60          2,500          41.92 54.70          2,500          42.61 0.69

Ulnes Walton 257.30        6,215          23.36 261.00        6,300          23.35 -0.01

Wheelton 414.90        14,544        34.01 413.90        14,976        35.14 1.13

Whittle Woods 2,542.80     54,280        21.35 2,563.20     59,070        23.05 1.70

Withnell 1,222.30     30,150        23.45 1,249.90     31,000        23.62 0.17

All other parts of the Council's area 10,535.90    -             -               10,688.70    -             -               

TOTAL / AVERAGE 37,476.20    741,535      18.76 38,108.00    788,318      19.68 0.92

PARISH COUNCIL PRECEPTS

2021/22 2022/23

 
 

Agenda Page 16 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

 

Parish Tax Base

Borough 

General 

Expenses

Borough 

Special 

Expenses

Borough 

Services 

Council Tax

Parish 

Precept

Parish   

Top-up

Parish 

Yield

Band D 

Parish 

Charge

Band D 

Parish 

Charge

Change in 

Parish 

Charge

Total    

Charge

Total    

Charge

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2021/22 2021/22 2021.22 2022/23

No £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % £ £

Adlington 2,035.80     178.26        5.42            183.68          19,000      1,816        17,184      8.44          8.50          -0.71% 185.03        192.12        

Anderton 499.80        178.26        2.30            180.56          5,200        294           4,906        9.82          9.69          1.34% 183.27        190.38        

Anglezarke 20.20          178.26        -             178.26          -               -               -               -            -            0.00% 171.37        178.26        

Astley Village 927.20        178.26        30.45          208.71          24,274      3,877        20,397      22.00        22.00        0.00% 222.65        230.71        

Bretherton 303.50        178.26        -             178.26          15,450      414           15,036      49.54        47.96        3.29% 213.89        227.80        

Brindle 466.10        178.26        5.26            183.52          6,800        273           6,527        14.00        14.21        -1.48% 190.68        197.52        

Charnock Richard 681.90        178.26        4.33            182.59          32,000      345           31,655      46.42        44.39        4.57% 219.68        229.01        

Clayton Le Woods 5,140.20     178.26        42.35          220.61          139,963     11,458      128,505     25.00        22.00        13.64% 234.17        245.61        

Coppull 2,330.20     178.26        8.90            187.16          110,330     10,576      99,754      42.81        39.95        7.16% 220.08        229.97        

Croston 1,081.70     178.26        10.41          188.67          25,970      1,440        24,530      22.68        22.72        -0.18% 203.44        211.35        

Cuerden 41.80          178.26        12.78          191.04          1,290        2              1,288        30.81        31.26        -1.44% 214.19        221.85        

Eccleston 1,673.30     178.26        5.44            183.70          47,480      1,636        45,844      27.40        27.40        0.00% 204.00        211.10        

Euxton 4,914.50     178.26        19.10          197.36          176,000     1,709        174,291     35.46        34.52        2.72% 224.58        232.82        

Heapey 371.80        178.26        19.51          197.77          9,150        327           8,823        23.73        23.73        0.00% 213.86        221.50        

Heath Charnock 806.90        178.26        23.72          201.98          8,200        335           7,865        9.75          9.39          3.83% 204.18        211.73        

Heskin 370.40        178.26        2.44            180.70          14,196      544           13,652      36.86        37.62        -2.02% 210.71        217.56        

Hoghton 362.70        178.26        7.68            185.94          6,000        167           5,833        16.08        16.55        -2.84% 195.50        202.02        

Mawdesley 848.60        178.26        1.51            179.77          33,169      794           32,375      38.15        38.21        -0.16% 212.34        217.92        

Rivington 54.70          178.26        -             178.26          2,500        169           2,331        42.61        41.92        1.65% 216.59        220.87        

Ulnes Walton 261.00        178.26        -             178.26          6,300        205           6,095        23.35        23.36        -0.04% 194.73        201.61        

Wheelton 413.90        178.26        -             178.26          14,976      432           14,544      35.14        34.01        3.32% 202.16        213.40        

Whittle Le Woods 2,563.20     178.26        23.63          201.89          59,070      -               59,070      23.05        21.35        7.96% 215.69        224.94        

Withnell 1,249.90     178.26        9.69            187.95          31,000      1,483        29,517      23.62        23.45        0.72% 203.44        211.57        

Other parts of the Borough 10,688.70    178.26        29.92          208.18          -               -               -               -               -            200.14        208.18        

38,108.00    178.26        21.40          199.66          788,318     38,296      750,022     19.68        18.46        6.61% 210.63        219.34         
 
 

22.C.28 Notice of Motion 
 
The Mayor accepted an urgent item of business on the basis that it was time bound 
and related to the previous budget item.   
 
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, proposed and the Deputy 
Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Debra Platt seconded the following Notice of 
Motion.   
 
To commit to funding the proposals in the Conservative group amendment in 
paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 for a period of three years subject to successful update and 
implementation, to be funded from general reserves.   
 
Following debate, Members unanimously made the Decision - that the motion be 
supported. 
 

Councillor Alan Whittaker left the meeting at 9pm.   
 

22.C.29 Exclusion of the Public and Press 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member 
(Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian Lowe seconded the 
(unanimous) Decision  
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the disclosure of exempt information 
as defined by paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act. 
 
 

Agenda Page 17 Agenda Item 1



Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022 

22.C.30 Bengal Street Project Update - Capital Budget 
 
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the confidential report of 
the Director of Commercial.  
  
The purpose of the report was to update members on the progress of the potential 
development of the Bengal Street depot.   
 
The report also acknowledged the securing of £1.1m of grant funding through the 
Brownfield Land Release Fund (BLRF) and highlighted the key outputs dictated by the 
BLRF grant award. 
  
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member 
for Planning and Development, Councillor Alistair Morwood seconded the (unanimous) 
Decision 
To approve the creation of a £1.1m budget in the capital programme from grant 
funding secured through the BLRF in the further development of the Bengal 
Street depot site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mayor  Date  
 

Agenda Page 18 Agenda Item 1



Executive Cabinet 
 

1. Any Cabinet recommendations on the reports that require Council decisions appear as 
separate items on the agenda. 

 

General Report of the Meeting Held on 24 February 2022 

 

Revenue Budget Monitoring Quarter 3 2021/22 

 

2. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
report of the Director of Finance which set out the revenue and reserves forecast for 
2021/22 for the Council, based on the position as at 31 December 2021. 

 
3. In summary, there was a forecast underspend against the budget for 2021/22 of 

£1.192m. Following the allocation to reserves, the revised forecast underspend, 
resulting in an increase to General Reserves, was £272k. The Council’s Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy reported that the minimum level of general fund reserves should be 
maintained at £4.0m to cushion against any potential, future financial risks that may face 
the Council. The forecast level of general fund balances as at 31 March 2022, in light of 
the above, will be £4.329m. We approved the recommendations within the report. 

 

Capital Budget Monitoring Quarter 3 2021/22 

 

4. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
report of the Director of Finance which outlined the overall financial position of the 
Council in respect of the capital programme as at 31 December 2021, highlighting key 
issues and explaining key variances over the first six months of the year, and provided 
an overview of various elements of the Council’s Balance Sheet as at 31 December 
2021. 

 
5. The capital budget for 2021/22 was set at £38.1m at Council in February 2021. This was 

increased following approval of the 2020/21 outturn to £46.2m. The monitoring report as 
at 31st July 2021 increased the total budget to £46.6m. This was reduced to £42.6m in 
the quarter 2 monitoring report, approved at Cabinet in November 2021. We noted that 
the total cost of the Council’s capital investment programme for 2021/22 has decreased 
since the quarter 2 monitoring report approved by Executive Cabinet, from £42.6m to 
£28.6m as at 31st December 2021. We approved the recommendations within the 
report. 

 

Quarter Three Performance Monitoring Report 2021/22 

 

6. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
report of the Deputy Chief Executive which set out the performance against the delivery 
of the Corporate Strategy and key performance indicators during the third quarter of 
2021/22, covering 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

 
7. The overall performance of key projects was good, with 77% of the projects rated green, 

15% rated amber, and 8% completed.  
 
8. Performance of the Corporate Strategy indicators and key service delivery measures 

continued to be closely monitored, with 71% performing on or above target, or within the 
5% threshold. 29% were performing below target and outside of the 5% threshold. 
Where indicators were performing below target, action plans were in place to improve 
performance. 

 

Agenda Page 19 Agenda Item 5



9. We discussed the town centre vacancy rates and long-term empty units. The council 
were monitoring this, and it was recognised that there was no requirement for extra 
capital expenditure at this stage. We approved the recommendations in the report. 

 

Volunteering Policy 

 

10. Councillor Bev Murray, Executive Member (Early Intervention) presented the report of 
the Director of Communities which considered the revised Volunteering Policy for 
implementation across Chorley Council and presented the funding requirements of the 
volunteering programme. 

 
11. The Volunteering Policy was last updated in 2015, since which time volunteering has 

formed a recurring key measure of success within the Corporate Strategy. A review of 
the 2015 Volunteering Policy found opportunities to outline a more ambitious approach 
to internal volunteering at Chorley Council, to bring it more in line with Chorley Council’s 
consistent commitment to supporting individuals into a wide variety of valuable 
volunteering experiences that help to achieve our key aims outlined in the Corporate 
Strategy. 

 
12. We noted that volunteers will complement and supplement the work of paid staff and will 

not be used to displace paid staff or undercut their pay and conditions of service. We 
approved the recommendations in the report. 

 

Holiday Activity and Food Programme 2022/23 

 

13. Councillor Bev Murray, Executive Member (Early Intervention) presented the report of 
the Director of Communities which gave an update on the delivery of the Holiday Activity 
and Food programme (HAF) 2021, provided details and proposed delivery of the Holiday 
Activity Programme for 2022/23, and sought approval to undertake the delivery of HAF 
2022/23 with identified delivery model and work with selected partners. 

 
14. LCC approached Chorley Council to deliver the HAF 2022/23 programme following the 

successful completion of delivery of HAF 2021. The delivery for 2022/23 would follow a 
similar model as last year and utilise our key local delivery partners; Chorley Inspire 
Youth Zone and Chorley School Sports Partnership to deliver the programme on behalf 
of Chorley Council. Lessons learned would be implemented to build on the successes of 
2021. 

 
15. LCC were finalising the funding amount which would be allocated to Chorley to deliver 

the programme. It was anticipated to be similar to last year but will be increased as it will 
include Easter provision for HAF 2022 which was not part of HAF 2021.  Approximately 
in the region of £320,000. 

 
16. Chorley has 2591 children aged 4-16 receiving free school meals. The programme will 

help address child food poverty during the school holidays and help support many 
families who struggle during this time. We approved the recommendations in the report. 

 

Central Lancashire Local Plan Resourcing 

 

17. Councillor Alistair Morwood, Executive Member (Planning and Development) presented 
the report of the Director of Planning and Development which provided an update on the 
procurement process to provide additional support to the Central Lancashire Local Plan 
team and informed members on the reason for change in approach from that approved 
at Council on 16 November 2021. 

 
18. Following approval to procure additional support via the Scape Framework, meetings 

were set up with Scape to identify suitable consultants to assist in this process; only one 

Agenda Page 20 Agenda Item 5



option was available. An initial outline cost proposal was received for this work which 
was above the level of support approved. 

 
19. In addition, the Councils identified that the consultant suggested was potentially 

conflicted due to representing landowners in promoting sites through the Local Plan 
process. As such it was felt we could not continue down this route and an alternative 
approach now seeks to utilise existing consultants already supporting the plan process, 
along with policy officer support from the 3 councils, to progress the Local Plan to 
preferred options stage. It was still the aim to progress the plan to preferred options in 
2022. We approved the recommendations in the report. 

 

Approval of Revised Terms for the Lease for Whittle Surgery - Site of 239 Preston Road, 

Whittle-le-Woods 

 

20. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
confidential report of the Director of Commercial Services which sought approval for 
additional terms in respect of the lease of the site of 239 Preston Road, Whittle-le-
Woods to the Whittle GP Surgery Practice. We approved the recommendations in the 
report. 

 
Approval of Tender Evaluation Criteria for Security & Concierge Services 

 

21. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
confidential report of the Director of Commercial Services which provided details of the 
procurement exercise being undertaken to bring the contracts for the delivery of the 
concierge and security services across council operated assets into one, including the 
evaluation criteria and weightings which will be used to award the contract. We 
approved the recommendations in the report. 
 

Approval to Procure Replacement Ride on Mowers 

 

22. On Behalf of Councillor Peter Wilson, Executive Member (Resources), I presented the 
confidential report of the Director of Customer and Digital which sought approval for the 
procurement of four ride on mowers for use in Streetscene Services as well as 
delegating the award of contract to the Executive Member for Resources. We approved 
the recommendations in the report. 

 

Wigan Lane Sports Facility Delivery 

 

23. Alistair Morwood, Executive Member (Planning and Development), presented the 
confidential report of the Director of Planning and Development which sought approval 
of the outline design, tender approach and evaluation criteria for the delivery of a new 
archery facility and associated infrastructure at Wigan Lane Playing Field. We approved 
the recommendations in the report. 

 

Recommendations  

 

24. To note the report. 
 

 

Councillor Alistair Bradley 

Executive Leader 

 

NN 

Agenda Page 21 Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Overview and Scrutiny  
 
1. This report summarises the business considered at the meetings of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held on 27 January 2022 and 17 March 2022, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Performance Panel held 10 March 2022 and an update on the Task Group 
Review of Select Move.  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 27 January 2022  
 
Health Scrutiny Update 
 
2. We welcomed Councillor Margaret France to update the Committee from the 16 

November 2021, Lancashire County Council Health Scrutiny meeting.  
 

3. As of the start of November 2021, 80% of eligible residents received their first dose 
with 70% their second. Vaccine uptake for those between 12 and 15 is low at 31% 
 

4. Those with protected characteristics have low uptake, efforts were taken to expand 
vaccination sites to schools, shopping centres, homeless centres, and Gypsy and 
traveler sites.  All eligible care homes in the County have been visited to deliver 
vaccinations.  Figures show Lancashire has one of the highest vaccination uptakes in 
the UK. 
 

5. The Health Scrutiny Committee received the report of the Steering Group. The hospital 
programme is to be reviewed once the list of 10 options is reduced to a shortlist.  
 

6. Members are concerned that the Clinic in Adlington has been closed since the start of 
the pandemic, transport to other clinics involved time and cost, with rumours spreading 
across the village affecting morale. A decision is not likely to be made until July 2022.  
 

7. A new hospital programme is to be created, however, it is warned that the process is 
likely to be long and drawn out.  
 

8. The Royal Preston Hospital created a temporary ward of 60 beds for non-Covid 
medical patients that are unable to be discharged as a significant number of care 
homes has polices preventing admissions for 28 days following a positive Covid-19 
case.  
 

9. We noted the Health Scrutiny Update. 
 

Budget Scrutiny  
 
10. We welcomed Deputy Executive Leader, and Executive Member for Resources 

Councillor Peter Wilson, and Deputy Director of Finance, James Thomson to present 
the report.  
 

11. Funding continues to decrease, the Council hoped to receive a three-year settlement 
figure but instead received a 12-month retention notice, which includes Business 
Rates and New Homes Bonus.  
 

12. The income stream for the Council is over £14 million, projections estimate £12.5 
million in 2023, and £12.6 million in 2024. The deficit of £2.2 million this year will 
increase to £4 million in 2023 and £4.3 million in 2024. The Council intends to bridge 
the gap with a consistent approach to savings. Shared Services is expected to save 

Agenda Page 23 Agenda Item 6



both Chorley and South Ribble significant figures.  
 

13. Income is generated through investment sites which include Market Walk, Primrose 
Gardens, Strawberry Meadows and Logistics House. Future sites include Tatton 
Gardens and the Whittle Health Hub.  The combination of efficiency savings and 
investment reduced the deficit to £281,000 for the year, which results in £1.9 million in 
2023 and £2.2 million in 2023.  
 

14. Council Tax to increase by 1.99%. The Fair Funding Review assumes a 2% yearly 
increase.  With the rise, the average band D rate is still the second lowest in the 
County.  Members of the Committee express caution with the rise in Council Tax 
considering the rise in the cost of living for all residents.  
 

15. The investment priorities for 2022/2023 include £1.5 million revenue investment and 
over £40 million in capital investment. The aims are to support the local economy, 
support the Council’s priorities, and to support local communities.  
 

16. The General Reserve Fund contains £4 million and set to rise to £4.4 million. The 
Equalisation Reserve, which is to protect against any potential downturn equals £1.2 
million. The budget is said to be balanced finely between resident interest and fiscal 
responsibility.  
 

17. The Council received £1.6 million of un-ringfenced grants to provide Covid-19 support, 
however, the money was put aside, when specific ringfenced support funding was 
received.  
 

18. The leisure centre’s budget is £600,000. Running costs have been overestimated and 
break-even is expected. Significant time was needed to reorganise staff contracts and 
to manage and implement Covid-19 restrictions. Confidence is high for profitability.  
 

19. The Council seeks financial returns on assets in both the long and short term. 
 

20. Covid-19 has altered the approach and attitude to work, and the Council continues to 
consider its need for premises and spaces.  
 

21. We noted the report.  
 

Community Safety Partnership  
 
22. We welcomed Irene Elwell, Public Protection Team Leader and Chief Inspector Chris 

Abbott of Lancashire Police to provide an overview of the Community Safety 
Partnership. 
 

23. The previous Crime and Disorder report was presented to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in July 2020, and it states that the Council will actively engage with the 
Community Safety Partnership. The Partnership is made up of Chorley Council, South 
Ribble Borough Council, Lancashire County Council, registered social landlords, drug 
and alcohol services, the Citizens Advice Bureau as well as volunteer, community, and 
faith groups. 
  

24. The last two years saw resources allocated to pandemic response. It is accepted that 
during the pandemic, the Partnership was reactive rather than proactive. At a future 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee an up to date report will be given.  
 

Agenda Page 24 Agenda Item 6



25. A new three-year Lancashire Strategic Assessment has been published and includes 
the impact of crime on community safety. The Responsibility Authorities Group is back 
to meet twice a year.  
 

26. A monthly priorities meeting takes place with an analysis report, highlighting hotspots 
for crime and antisocial behaviour. The first meeting takes place 31 January 2022. 
One of the first priorities is to develop an action plan for serious and organised crime 
referrals.  
 

27. Operation Edge is ongoing to reduce knife crime and antisocial behavior. The JJ Effect 
is expanding into Chorley and South Ribble secondary schools. The Programme in 
cooperation with the police, provides support and education to young people around 
knife crime, grooming and criminal exploitation.  
 

28. Operation Night Guardian is underway to combat violence against women with plain 
clothed officers in premises to quickly respond to reports of spiking.  
 

29. Lancashire Talking continues to operate in targeted areas that lacks perceived police 
visibility.  
 

30. There has been an overall decrease in reports of crime and anti-social behaviour in 
Chorley.  
 

31. Members voiced concerns with cross border crimes emanating from Greater 
Manchester, including car crime and drug dealing. Accounts include school children 
being targeted by drug dealers. It is urged for every incident to be reported to the 
police. 
 

32. Arrests were made including a suspect responsible for 56 burglaries in Bolton and 
Adlington.  The four Officer, Rural Task Group received an award for recovering more 
stolen plant and farming equipment than any other force in the country.  
 

33. We noted the update. 
 

Magistrates and Transport 
 
34. Irene Elwell provided a verbal update from the Director of Communities in response to 

a query raised in a previous Overview and Scrutiny Committee about residents 
attending Magistrates’ courts across Lancashire since the closure of the Court in 
Chorley.  
 

35. The Council does not have significant involvement in supporting residents attending 
Magistrates Courts. Instead, support was offered by the Court Service. The Council 
does support Community Transport Services such as Dial a Ride, but it is noted that 
Dial-a-Ride does not have capacity for such services and has difficulty in recruiting 
drivers.  
 

36.  We noted the update. 
 

Agenda Page 25 Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 17 March 2022 
 
Notice of Executive Decisions 
  
37. We agreed that on the first of every month, all Members would receive a copy of the 

executive decisions, and we noted the Notice of Executive Decisions.  
 

Health Scrutiny Update  

 
38. There is consideration for a joint health/local hospital scrutiny between Chorley and 

South Ribble, and a Member Learning Session is to be held in June 2022.  
 

39. We wish to express a view and to be involved with the new hospital programme, and 
with the Community Mental Health Transformation Programme.  
 

40. We noted the update  
 

Grass Cutting and Verge Update 
 
41. We welcomed Executive Member Customer and Streetscene Services Councillor 

Adrian Lowe and Director of Customer and Digital, Asim Khan. 
 

42. The mini meadows and wildlife corridors project began in April 2020. There are 52 
wildflower meadows, and 16,000 wildflower bulbs planted. Residents view the mini 
meadows favourably.  
 

43. The wildlife corridors are maintained as required, and any issue identified is actioned.  
The grass cutting season runs from April to October, and weather dependant is cut 
every three weeks.  Any instance of missed cuttings should be reported to the 
Streetscene team. 
  

44. In 2021/22  

 40% reduction in grass related service requests totalling 127. There were 304 in 
2016/17 

 4 complaints have been made about either ground maintenance, grass cutting or 
wildlife corridors. 

 722 general enquiries made, 6 relate or refer to grass cutting or the operation of 
the wildlife corridors.  

 An analysis of social media comments reveals that 115 were complimentary and 
29 complained.  
 

45. Members agree that the mini meadows and wildlife corridors present a great 
opportunity for community engagement and that they demonstrate tangible initiatives 
of the green agenda.  
 

46. We noted the report.  
 

Sustainable Public transport Second Monitoring Report.  
 
47. We welcomed Zoe Whiteside, Service Lead – Spatial Planning to present the Second 

Monitoring Report.  
 

48. A Cycling Task Group was recommended, but it was proposed that instead, a project 
of work is to be undertaken to achieve key objectives and to gain a wider 

Agenda Page 26 Agenda Item 6



understanding of cycling within the borough.  Social media will be used to raise 
awareness of cycling, and information to be shared including updates to the highway 
code while encouraging cycling for all ages. 
 

49. Lancashire County Council is the responsible body for cycling, and the Council aims to 
engage to gain a greater understanding of the plans, schemes, and improvements and 
to lobby for funding and focus.  As part of the new Local Plan, there will be an 
emphasis on active travel and cycling.  Cycle pods have been ordered for Bengal 
Street, it is uncertain if they have arrived and installed. 
 

50. The cycling project will be Officer led, however, progress may be reported at the 
Climate Change Working Group, and allow Member input and oversight, but as it is a 
Working Group, it will not be open to the public.  To prevent overlap with the Climate 
Change consultation, the cycling consultation will begin in the summer. 
 

51. The County Council feel strongly that the franchising and regulation of buses shall 
remain a County power, and that as Chorley is not a combined authority it is not 
appropriate to consider franchising and that the Enhanced Partnership is the way 
forward.   
 

52. Dial-a-Ride is limited financially, and runs trips into town, supermarkets, and to 
appointments. Their greatest issue is the shortage of volunteers. Every Parish Council 
is encouraged to promote the service.  
 

53. We noted the report.  
 

Developing the Council’s Green Agenda – Monitoring Report 3 
 
54. We welcomed Sally Green, Climate Change Programme Officer to present the report.  

 
55. There are 23 recommendations from the Task Group. 

 13 are completed, 

 3 completed and awaiting approval  

 7 are long term and ongoing, some of which are part of the draft Climate 
Strategy.  
 

56. Of the recommendations completed some noted are  

 In 2019, the Town Hall’s carbon footprint was mapped, and the baseline 
provided is 1,662,632 kg CO2e.   

 The new ‘Air Quality and Carbon Officer’ is now in post.  

 The Business Engagement Team has developed a ‘green plaque’ scheme to 
identify buildings in the borough with strong green credentials.  

 A wide variety of renewable energy sources are being explored to decarbonise 
the Town Hall.  

 Networking groups are being established in the community, these range from 
local schools, local businesses, and the Youth Zone.  
 

57. Following a query from Andy Hunter-Rossall officers agreed to set up a meeting to 
discuss the ongoing work at Chorley Council with Green Living Chorley.  

 
58. Members agree that the Council should be available to support community projects, 

act as an intermediary, offer advice and to be transparent about its activities. Grant 
information and support is to be provided to local businesses and institutions to 
become more ‘eco-friendly’. Due to the success of the Climate Change Business 

Agenda Page 27 Agenda Item 6



Event in November 2021, another has been organised for November 2022. 
 

59. Members questioned for the wording used to describe Chorley’s geographic location 
as a ‘rural area of the north’ due to its proximity to major metropolitan areas. 
 

60. We noted the report   
 
Overview and Scrutiny Performance Panel - 10 March 2022  
 
Performance Focus – Commercial and Property  
 
61. We welcomed Executive Leader, Executive Member for Economic Development and 

Public Services Reform, Councillor Alistair Bradley, Executive Member for Homes and 
Housing, Councillor Peter Gabbott and Director of Commercial Services, Mark Lester 
to the Committee.  
 

62. The Performance of the Directorate is in four parts  

 Development 

 Property 

 Markets and Town Centre 

 Accommodation  
 

63. Of the 45 projects  

 39 (81%) are classified as green or completed, 

 4 (8%) are put on hold and, 

 5(10%) are rated amber.  
 

64. The spending of the directorate is slightly over budget, although it is understood that 
generated income can differ yearly. The greatest expense is staffing, while the 
reduction of income is in part due to the decrease in the collection of market rents and 
the removal of car park charges prior to Christmas 2021.  
 

65. There remain difficulties in recruitment and gaps in the structure are a cause for the 
underperformance of some indicators.  
 

66. Rent collected from Digital Office Park is below target due to Covid-19. The Council 
allowed those behind on commercial rent to recover and clear their arrears. Each case 
is dealt with on a case by case basis. There is guidance for enforcement and Officer 
discretion allowed.  
 

67. Businesses that requested grants or funding provided the Council with their finances, 
and the Council learnt the sustainability of a number of businesses and has been able 
to offer advice and support.  
 

68. Outstanding voids in the covered market are temporary that the Council created to 
reorder the units. In areas in the town centre that excludes Market Walk, is below 
target at 14.7%, signs indicate that the target of 7.5% will be met and exceeded, as 
long-term empty units started to return to the market.  
 

69. The Town Centre vacancy rate is at 11.2% with a target 8%. No single reason 
provided for the CCTV rate within 5 days but is a mix of uncontrolled variables.  
 

70. The Council intends to engage and support the reopening of Community Centres. The 
current occupancy rate is 44.15% under the target of 51%. Prior to Covid-19, the figure 

Agenda Page 28 Agenda Item 6



was 60%.  
 

71. Accommodation figures are positive. There are lower rates of voids at Primrose 
Gardens and Cotswold House. Some delay in the payments relates to housing benefit 
and by Quarter Four, it will be rectified. During the Winter, the Cotswold facilities that 
were not in use due to Covid-19 were used by the Winter Watch Service to shelter 
people from the street.  
 

72. The reopening of Primrose Gardens and its facilities is at a more cautious pace due to 
the vulnerability of the residents.  The performance targets for Primrose and Cotswold 
are based on business models although can be impacted by uncontrollable matters.  It 
is proposed that Members are to be given a tour of the facilities to gain a greater 
understanding of what the Council has to offer communities and Community Groups.  
 

73. Alker Lanes’ name has changed to Strawberry Meadows and is part of one of the four 
corporate strategy projects. 60% of the units have been let. The larger unites are to be 
rebranded and targeted to potential tenants. Strawberry Fields is expected to break 
even for the first time, although as it was originally conceived as hotdesking space, it is 
to be repurposed to create more fixed offices in response to new attitudes towards 
hybrid and home working. It is not yet known if the project will return to Council for 
additional investment.  
 

74. There is a single unit remaining at the new Market Walk, there is no rush to fill it, as 
options are being considered. The unit is being used on a temporary basis by various 
charitable organisations to store collected aid for Ukraine.  
 

75. Footfall is increasing in the town centre, and it is acknowledged that it will take time to 
get over the issues caused by the two years of Covid-19, restrictions, and lockdowns.  
 

76. £1,000,000 is being invested in Bengal Street, the issues at the Tatton Care Scheme 
have been resolved and the programme is on track to be opened throughout 2022 and 
2023.  
 

77. The Whittle GP Surgery and Community Centre is due to open 17 March 2022.  
 

78. Mark Lester told of the benefit of hybrid working across two organisations. Expertise, 
capacity, and resources can be shared, and Shared Services is allowing both Councils 
to build and maintain strong working relationships and submit stronger grant and 
funding bids.  
 

79. We noted the report.  
 

Business Plans Progress Update 2021/22 
 
80. We welcomed Victoria Willett, Shared Service Lead – Transformation and 

Partnerships to present the report. The report is an end of year document and planning 
is underway to set the priorities for the coming year.  
 

81. There is a total of 170 projects  

 84 (49%) of projects are green, 

 18 (11%) amber, 

 55 (32%) are completed, 

 9 (5%) on hold and,  

Agenda Page 29 Agenda Item 6



 4 (2%) not started.  
 

82. The graph in the report represents the progress of each project, and for every project 
that is not green, the reason and planned action to correct the project is provided.  
Most of the amber indicators are related to the ongoing Covid Recovery, capacity and 
staffing, ICT and other projects that are prioritised, in addition to other external factors 
that are outside the control of the Council. 
 

83. Highlighted achievements include the resident satisfaction survey results, the 2021 
events programme, delivery of climate change action, Astley Hall, the new 
Volunteering Policy, the Chorley and South Ribble Partnership and the Market and 
Town Centre improvements.  
 

84. The full list of projects is to be checked and monitored for any errors. The projects 
went from ‘not started’ or ‘red’ in the previous update to completed is likely due to an 
additional resource, such as external consultancy to accelerate and complete certain 
projects.  
 

85. Recruitment to key roles is critical when considering capacity to deliver projects. The 
Council wants to recruit internally to enable opportunities and pathways for staff 
development, but this does impact the time it takes to fill all vacancies.  The Council 
updated its method of recruitment, moving from an in-house system to a new 
recruitment platform that saw applications rise on a specific vacancy from 7 
applications to nearly 80, providing a wider and broader range of candidates.  
 

86. The Council intends to develop a People Strategy for workforce development and 
succession planning through targeted markets, or to grow and develop staff in house 
through apprenticeships and graduate schemes.  
 

87. Due to IT completing substantial work, the Council’s information infrastructure is in a 
far more secure position and was more resilient to recent security risks. The focus is 
now on front end technical support across the organisation.  
 

88. We noted the report.  
 
Reports from the Task and Finish Groups Overview and Scrutiny Task Group – Select 
Move 
 
89. At the meeting held 15 February 2022, Officers and Executive Members attended from 

Preston City Council and South Ribble Borough Council to share their views, and to 
contrast and compare each experience with Select Move.  
 

90. At the meeting held 15 March2022, representatives attended from Jigsaw Homes and 
Progress. Answering questions and sharing their views and experiences of being part 
of the Select Move Partnership. 
 

91. The future task groups are to invite the Select Move Coordinator when in post, Sir 
Lindsay Hoyle MP. The Task Group is presently awaiting the results of a Select Move 
customer survey. 

 
Recommendation  
 
92.  That the report be noted  
 
 

Agenda Page 30 Agenda Item 6



 
Councillor John Walker 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
MP 

Agenda Page 31 Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Committee 

 
1. This report summarises the business undertaken at the Governance Committee meeting 

held on 16 March 2022. 
 

General Report of the Meeting Held on 16 March 2022 

 

2020/21 Statutory Accounts 

 
2. Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance presented her report which outlined the audited 

Statement of Accounts for 2020/21 for approval. There have been a small number of 
material changes to the Statement of Accounts from the draft version published on 15 
October 2021. These related to asset classification and valuations and offsetting 
adjustments between Short Term Debtors and Creditors, so the underlying financial 
position of the Council, its financial performance for the year and levels of Usable 
Reserves, were unaffected. 

 
3. We were advised that the Appointed Auditor anticipates providing the Council with an 

unmodified audit report. We approved the audited Statement of Accounts for 2020/21 as 
outlined in the recommendations in the report. 

 

2020/21 Letter of Representation 

 

4. Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance presented the proposed draft letter of 
representation which was provided in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements of Chorley Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 
5. Georgia Jones advised that since the agenda was published, Grant Thornton identified a 

further item regarding business grant income of £675k which had been incorrectly 
classified within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). It was 
understood that the note in the accounts would be updated in respect of this but the 
CIES would not. We were asked to confirm that we were happy for the mis-statement to 
remain unadjusted in the CIES. 

 
6. Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance advised of the reasoning for this and explained 

that the reclassification relates to the analysis of business grants provided by the 
government to the council during the Covid pandemic, for which the council was deemed 
to act in the capacity of agent for some, whereas for others it was deemed to act as 
principal, each of which had different accounting treatment. We were reassured that 
although a sizeable amount, the figure remained below the materiality threshold and 
therefore the council have chosen not to adjust. 

 
7. Following queries, we were advised that the Appendix detailing the Unadjusted mis-

statements would be published alongside the accounts and a note would be included on 
the accounts themselves providing justification for the decision not to reclassify. We 
approved the Letter of Representation 2020/21 for signature as outlined in the 
recommendations in the report and confirmed that the Committee was happy that the 
CIES won’t be adjusted for the £675k discrepancy identified by Grant Thornton which 
Chorley Council considers immaterial. 

 
2020/21 Audit Findings Report 

 

8. Georgia Jones, Grant Thornton presented the report of the External Auditor on their 
audit findings for the authority for the year ending 31 March 2021 that highlighted key 
matters arising in the audit of the Council’s financial statements. 

 

Agenda Page 33 Agenda Item 7



9. We were advised that Grant Thornton’s audit work was substantially complete, and 
although there are a few minor queries outstanding, it was not anticipated that these 
would require modification to the audit opinion. Grant Thornton anticipated giving an 
unmodified report. 

 
10. We were advised that the external auditors had not yet completed all of the Value for 

Money (VfM) work and so were not in a position to issue the Auditor’s Annual Report. An 
audit letter explaining the reasons for the delay was provided. This report was expected 
by 30 June 2022, which is in line with the National Audit Office’s revised deadline. 

 
11. We noted that Astley Hall was included in the accounts at a nominal value of £1 at 31 

March 2021, based on a condition survey undertaken several years ago. As the 
renovation works progress towards completion in 2022-23, the current valuation basis 
will no longer be appropriate, therefore Grant Thornton recommended that Chorley 
Council revalue the asset to ensure that the value is not materially misstated. We noted 
the report. 
 

Chorley Borough Council Audit Plan 2020/21 

 

12. Georgia Jones, Grant Thornton presented the report of the External Auditor on the 
Chorley Borough Council Audit Plan 2020/21. We were advised that the same plan was 
brought before the Committee earlier in the year, however this had subsequently been 
updated to include Value for Money (VfM) risk. An updated risk assessment was 
provided to highlight this key change to the audit plan. Grant Thornton would report back 
on the VfM work once complete. We noted the report. 
 

Homes England Compliance Audit 

 

13. Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance presented her report which acknowledged receipt 
of the Homes England Compliance Audit report as required by Homes England. 

 
14. The Homes England Compliance Audit related to the Tatton Development. Homes 

England have provided funding to the value of £3.72m towards the Tatton capital 
scheme and as a result there was a requirement to meet their audit requirements. Grant 
Thornton were engaged to conduct the audit which had been reviewed by Homes 
England and judged to meet all requirements. 

 
15. The review concluded that Chorley Council had complied with all the programme 

requirements and guidance. A Green grade was assigned and no breaches were 
identified. We acknowledged receipt of the report as required by Homes England and 
noted there were no breaches recorded and the report was green meeting all 
requirements. 

 
Internal Audit Plan April to September 2022 

 

16. Dawn Highton, Service Lead for Audit and Risk presented her report which set out the 
programme of work to be undertaken by the Internal Audit Service. This provided details 
of the Internal Audit Plan and associated performance indicators as well as seeking 
Committee approval of the Audit Plan and Internal Audit Charter. 

 
17. Historically the Internal Audit Plan had been compiled and approved on an annual basis, 

however, to enable Internal Audit to be flexible and responsive to emerging risks across 
the organisation, it was proposed that the Internal Audit Plan was only developed for 
April to September. The intention was then to revisit the audit needs analysis and to 
liaise with key stakeholders to consider any new and emerging risks to identify the work 
plan for October to March 23. Adopting this way of working would also allow the Council 
to accurately tailor the plan to the resources available during each 6-month period. 

Agenda Page 34 Agenda Item 7



 
18. It had also been agreed that the Internal Audit Service would provide 105 audit days to 

Chorley Leisure Limited (CLL). The plans for both the Council and CLL would be 
completed solely by the in-house team with external support procured for the specialist 
ICT reviews. For the period October 22 to March 23, it was intended to increase the 
capacity of the Internal Audit Service with the recruitment of an audit trainee post and 
with the use of agency staff. 

 
19. We noted the reviewed Internal Audit Charter which had been amended to include 

Chorley Leisure Limited. We approved the Internal Audit Plan and associated indicators, 
as well as the Internal Audit Charter. 

 
GDPR Update 

 

20. Chris Moister, Director of Governance presented his report which informed Members of 
the actions taken to review the Council’s compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations (now Data Protection Act 2018). 

 
21. Following the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations which came into 

force in May 2018, the Council delivered and adopted a compliant framework which met 
our obligations under the legislation. It had been intended to undertake a full review in 
2020/21 to ensure that the adopted policies remained compliant, however this review 
was delayed due to the impact of Covid. The review was undertaken by legal services in 
the final quarter of this year. The Information Security Framework was not reviewed by 
legal services as while compliance with it supports GDPR compliance, it is not in itself a 
GDPR policy. IT owns this document and have been asked to undertake a review of it. 
 

22. The policies were considered compliant with only some minor amendments to be made. 
The review considered policy compliance, data retention, data controllers, training, 
adequacy decision and data breaches. 

 
23. The Committee noted that since 1 April 2021, the council had self-reported data 

breaches twice, although neither incident was viewed as serious internally. In light of our 
actions the ICO took no action on either self-report. We took assurance that the GDPR 
framework was operating and embedded due to the limited number of data breaches. 

 
24. We highlighted the importance of mandatory GDPR training for Members and were 

advised that this was undertaken as part of the induction following the elections. E-
learning was also available. We noted the report. 

 
Local Code of Corporate Governance 

 

25. Chris Moister, Director of Governance presented his report which updated Members on 
the outcome of a review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance. The Council has 
an adopted Local Code of Corporate Governance, in compliance with CIPFA Guidance, 
which sets out how the Council delivers it’s Corporate Governance Framework and 
explains how it operates. The Local Code should be reviewed frequently to ensure it is 
up to date and reflects the current framework. 

 
26. A number of policy families had been updated in the last 12 months, however we 

acknowledged that the vast majority of the documents remain unchanged. Specific to 
this Local Code there have been presentational changes this year. The table of 
interrelationships between principles, statutory obligations and corporate objectives and 
supporting documents and processes had been moved into the body of the document. 
Although a small change it clearly shows the core documents and processes which 
support our framework, making the relationships clearer. The detail of the evidence of 

Agenda Page 35 Agenda Item 7



compliance had been moved into an appendix. We approved the Local Code of 
Corporate Governance. 

 
RIPA Application Update 
 
27. Chris Moister, Director of Governance/Monitoring Officer reported that no RIPA 

applications had been made. 
 

Recommendations 

 

28. To note the report. 
 

 

 

 

Councillor Debra Platt 

Chair of the Governance Committee 

 

NN 

Agenda Page 36 Agenda Item 7



 
 

 

 

Decarbonisation of the Town Hall 
 

Is this report confidential? No  
 

 

Is this decision key? Not applicable  
 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. To outline the work required to reduce the carbon footprint of the Town Hall and seek 
approval to commence the works, which are estimated to cost £1,590,085. Funding 
has been secured from Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme to the value of 
£285,290 and therefore the Council are required to allocate match funding of 
£1,304,975 to enable the project to commence, beginning with the appointment of 
consultants.  
 

 
Recommendations to Council 
 

2. Council approve a capital budget of £1,590,085 funded by £285,290 grant and 
£1,304,975 of borrowing to finance the works to decarbonise the Town Hall and 
reduce the footprint of the building by 58%.  
 

3. The works are procured in conjunction with the Accommodation project at the Town 
Hall that forms part of the previously approved Workplace Strategy. 
 

 
Reasons for recommendations 
 

4. The Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and has set an ambitious target for 
Chorley to be net zero carbon by 2030. The recommendations made by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Task Group for the Green Agenda included actions to reduce the carbon 
footprint of the Councils’ assets and these are also proposed as part of the draft Climate 
Change Strategy. The Town Hall is the first of these assets to have a detailed 
assessment and proposal for decarbonisation, with others to follow in coming months 
and years.  
 

5.  PSDS3 grant funding is conditional on the completion of all decarbonisations works by 
end March 2023. With grant funds released 1st April 2022, all works must be completed 
and reported by 31st March 2023. Failure to comply could result in money being withheld 
from the grant or returned.  

Report of Meeting Date 

Director (Planning and 

Development) 

(Introduced by Executive 

Member (Resources)) 

Council  19th April 2022 

Agenda Page 37 Agenda Item 8



 
 

 
6. The financial contribution of the Council needs to be agreed. Accepting and revoking an 

acceptance at a later date will impede the Council’s success in later PSDS applications.  
 
Other options considered and rejected 
 
7. To not undertake works to reduce the carbon footprint and maintain the building with 

inefficient heating, lighting, and insulation fabric.  
 

8. This has been rejected as it does not accord with the Councils ambition for Chorley to 
become net zero by 2030.  

 
Corporate priorities 
 

9. The report relates to the following corporate priorities:  
 

Involving residents in improving their local 

area and equality of access for all 

A strong local economy 

Clean, safe, and healthy communities An ambitious council that does more to 

meet the needs of residents and the local 

area 

 

Background to the report 
 

10. The decarbonisation of Council assets is a joint project managed across a number of 

teams including Spatial Planning (Climate Change), Commercial Services (Property and 

Assets) and Policy and Governance (Transformation).  

 

11. SMT agreed to the necessity of combining the proposed decarbonisation work to 

coincide with the Accommodation Project of the Town Hall. Informed by a carbon 

assessment undertaken by Twelve Trees Consultancy (Appendix three) and a costing 

schedule developed in conjunction with the consultants and in-house officers from the  

Commercial Services Directorate, a bid was submitted to Salix/PSDG for public sector 

decarbonisation funding for works to the Town Hall ( Appendix One) and a grant offer 

made to the Council of £285,290 which was accepted on 9th March 2022.  

 
12. The total costs of the works are £1,590,085, with a grant to the value of £285,290 

secured, Chorley Council are required to commit £1,304,975 to the project. 
 

13. A decision is required as to whether the Council will commit to the decarbonisation work 
and associated costs of £1,304,795.  
 

Scope of the Town Hall Decarbonisation project 
 

14. The boiler will be replaced with an Air Source Heat Pump which will be fitted on the roof 

of the building and provide sustainable and renewable heat. The existing boiler and 

heating system within the Town Hall have reached their end of life, with Asset 

Management colleagues stating explicitly that it will not survive another winter of high 

use and will need to be replaced imminently.   

 

Agenda Page 38 Agenda Item 8



 
 

15. A number of works already within the Accommodation Project which will marginally 
improve the energy efficiency of the building which include:  
LED fixtures throughout the building  
Final window installation to double glazing 
Heating controls and metering 

 
16. This work accelerates a previous decision to upgrade the windows and lighting on a 

rolling programme over time. Integrating the work into the proposed programme will 
reduce building downtime as it will be completed during the closure period.  
 

17. In order to efficiently insulate the building and ensure that the heat from the Air Source 
Heat Pump is retained there will need to be a series of insulation measures:  
Pipework improvements 
Internal and external pipework insulation  
Loft insulation  
Draught proofing  
 

18. The total cost of work of all the above is £1,382,983.  
 

19. This decarbonisation work will lower the carbon footprint of the town hall by at least 58% 
from 100,522.48 kg CO2e to 58,522.48 kg CO2e. This is a significant reduction which 
will contribute to the achievement of the commitment to reducing the footprint of the 
council.  
 

20. With increased use of the Town Hall expected after the Accommodation Project process 
has been completed the percentage saving will likely be higher than 58%.  

 
21. Due to the grant funding conditions the start and end dates of the decarbonisation 

project are time limited.  
 

22. The initial spend on the decarbonisation works is estimated to achieve an 80% reduction 
in gas usage, with associated cost, carbon, and local air quality benefits. Switching to 
LED lighting is estimated to achieve around a 16% reduction in electricity usage, this will 
offset a large proportion of the increased energy demand from the operation of an air 
source heat pump.    

 

23. The payback time of the air source heat pump and associated works for the grant 
component will be 30 years. This payback time estimate does not take into account the 
cost of works which would have been carried out in any case as a part of the 
accommodation programme (heating replacement, building management, upgraded 
windows, lighting etc.), or the positive impacts of a more pleasant working environment 
and having a net-zero flagship asset for Chorley.  

 

24. Completing the decarbonisation work in conjunction with the other works within the 
Accommodation Project will allow for a number of works to be completed by the same 
businesses, such as design work, project management and building work. It has been 
estimated completing the decarbonisation work in conjunction will save £150,000.  

 

25. To expedite the works and ensure successful delivery, a phased approach is planned 
with the decarbonisation works commencing prior to the wider Town Hall 
accommodation project. This will minimise disruption, allow enabling works to be 
undertaken and reduce the risk of replication.  

 

Agenda Page 39 Agenda Item 8



 
 

26. To begin the decarbonisation project and remain on track, funds will need to be released 
to initiate the first phase which will be the procurement of consultants to determine the 
work programme. 

 

27. Below is an elemental breakdown of cost for decarbonisation works proposed based on 
specialist contractor estimates:  

 

Element Contractor Costs 
Estimate (£) 

Heating Controls 59,903 

Pipework Improvements 678,923 

Pipework Insulation (INT) 42,121 

Pipework Insulation (EXT) 18,052 

Windows 116,867 

Loft Insulation 17,971 

Draught Proofing 10,483 

Air Source Heat Pumps 180,919 

Metering 22,464 

Project Delivery 192,837 

LED Lights 42,444 

  

TOTAL 1.382,984 

  

Project Management (4%) 55,319 

Planning (0.5%) 6,915 

Principle Designer, PCI, and Site H&S (3%) 41,489 

Structures (2%) 27,660 

Client Resources (5%) 75,718 

  

Total Net Estimate £ 1,590,085 

 

Acceptance of the PSDS grant included a number of conditions which include: 

28. The Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) provides grants for public sector 
bodies to fund heat decarbonisation and energy efficiency measures. This fund is 
focused on a whole building approach ensuring the efficiency and sustainability of the 
entire system with a 1-year time scale.  

 
29. This fund has an energy efficiency contingency meaning that the value project cannot 

exceed £325 per tonne of carbon saved. Any value above this will not be granted match 
funding.  

 

30. Due to the energy efficiency contingency the total amount which the Council was able to 
apply for was £285,290. This will therefore mean the actual cost to CBC for works would 
be £1,304,795 (£1,590,085 - £285,290 grant). 

 

31. Monthly status reports, due on the 15th of each month. 
 

Agenda Page 40 Agenda Item 8



 
 

32. Salix (the administrator) requires funded projects to start within six weeks, or a written 
justification should be sent containing an explanation, which they can either accept or 
decline. If the work is not started on time or the reason for this is not accepted, Salix 
could withhold the grant. Purdah is unlikely to be accepted as a valid reason for delaying 
the start date.  

 
33. Decarbonisation work needs to be completed and the report submitted by 31st March 

2023. If not, the grant money could be reclaimed. There is no leeway in the final 
deadline, SRBC have experience of this. 

Funding available for the decarbonisation work: 

34. Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme grant £285,290 

 

35. Chorley Council contribution £1,304,795 

Details of procurement and consultants to be appointed: 

36. It is proposed that the decarbonisation of the Town Hall project will be amalgamated with 
the works already planned for the Town Has part of the new Workplace Strategy and 
accommodation changes for Council operations. Approval for the Workplace Strategy 
was given by Executive Cabinet on 16th September 2021 and further information on the 
Accommodation project as part of the strategy will follow at Executive Cabinet in June 
2022. The project team to deliver this project, as well as the decarbonisation project will 
include the procurement of following consultants:  
 

37. Quantity Surveyor - via ITQ on The Chest. 60% Cost, 40% Quality evaluation 
methodology. Expect contract to be to be below £100,000. 
 

38. Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing Consultants - via ITQ on The Chest. 60% Cost, 
40% Quality evaluation methodology. Expect contract to be to be below £100,000. 

 
39. Structural Engineer via ITQ on The Chest. 60% Cost, 40% Quality evaluation 

methodology. Expect contract to be to be below £100,000. 
 
40. Project Manager/Employers Agent - via ITQ on The Chest. 60% Cost, 40% Quality 

evaluation methodology. Expect contract to be to be below £100,000.  
 
41. Principal Designer - Quotes requested from four consultants, awaiting replies. Expected 

to be below £25,000. 
 
42. Architects – Contract over £100,000 will need cabinet approval which will be put forward 

in June 2022. Already have feasibility studies from Architects for the Town Hall, Property 
Services feel that other consultants can do their design elements based on that while we 
wait for approval to appoint architects. 

 

43. The plan will be to seek delegated decision to allow for the Executive Member 
(Resources) to approve award of contracts for the above consultants once tenders have 
been evaluated. 

 

Timeframe  
 

Agenda Page 41 Agenda Item 8



 
 

44. Subject to approval, it is anticipated that the procurement would start imminently with a 
start on site planned for September 2022 and completion of the decarbonisation element 
of the overall project to be complete by March 2023, to meet grant conditions.  

 
Climate change and air quality 
 
45. The work noted in this report impacts on the following areas of climate change and 

sustainability targets of the Councils Green Agenda: net carbon zero by 2030, reducing 
waste production, working with sustainable and green accredited companies, limiting or 
improving air quality, limiting water waste and flooding risks, improving green areas and 
biodiversity.  

 
46. The following remediations have been undertaken to limit the environmental effect:  

 Combining work with the wider Town Hall accommodation project to reduce 

disruption and improve efficiency of the works.  

 Further information on the accommodation project to follow at Cabinet in June 

2022. 

 
47. The work noted in this report will impact positively on the climate change and 

sustainability targets of the Councils Green Agenda and all environmental considerations 
are in place. 

 
Equality and diversity 

48. There are no equality and diversity considerations of these proposals as they are only 
enhancing the works already planned as part of the workplace strategy.  

 
Risk 
 

49. Grant funding is conditional on hitting milestones set by Salix in terms of delivery and 

completion. Failure to meet these could result in money being withheld or returned.  

 
Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer 
 
50. This scheme is not currently within the capital programme and as such no previous 

allocation of revenue funding for MRP/Interest has been made.  Should this be 
approved then the associated revenue costs would be £31k interest and £39k MRP 
making a total of £70k.  This cost would only begin to be incurred in 23/24 (year 
following work completion) so would be built into budget setting next financial year.  

 
Comments of the Monitoring Officer 
 
51. The adoption of the carbon neutral target by 2030 is a corporate commitment. This 

proposal meets this commitment and aids in its delivery. 
52. Members should note that the report confirms that whilst the costs may appear 

significant many of them are simply accelerating delivery of works due to come forward 
and therefore the costs referenced (or part of them) are likely to be incurred in due 
course. The “costs” in relation to this proposal are any increased cost as a result of the 
works being more expensive due to the low/ zero carbon outputs versus traditional 
solutions. As stated above these costs are justified given the council commitment to 
carbon neutrality. 

Agenda Page 42 Agenda Item 8



 
 

53. The proposed procurement route is compliant both in terms of legislation and the 
council’s contract procedure rules. The procurement methodologies provided are 
appropriate for these types of contract. 

 
Background documents 

 

54. Executive Cabinet Workplace Strategy 2021-2024  

https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=89557 

Appendices  
 

Appendix A the Bid  

 

Appendix B the terms and conditions of the grant funding.  

 

Appendix C the Town Hall energy audit 

 

Report Author: Email: Telephone: Date: 

Matt Evans /Zoe Whiteside  Matt.evans@chorley.gov.uk 01257 
515151 

24.3.22 

 

Agenda Page 43 Agenda Item 8

mailto:Matt.evans@chorley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Section 1.1

Project title:

Organisation name:

Submission date: 01/11/21

Pre-Tender

Name of consultant organisation: TWELVETREES CONSULTING

Section 1.2

Section 1.3

Yes

Yes

Yes

N/A

N/A

Yes

Additional commentary

Yes

Additional commentary

4. Does the project require planning consent? If yes, please provide detail below:

The project has had internal sign off from Cabinet Members of Chorley Council on 30 September 2021.

Placing plant on the roof.  The town hall already has solar panels and condensing units on the roof areas - The Chorley Team consider to be low risk.

A team of inhouse Architects will lead this process

5. Have you secured all necessary internal sign off for this project proposal? Please detail the level of sign off achieved, and any additional sign off that 

would be required.

3c. If you are applying for a three year project, can you confirm that all the proposed measures will be completed by 31
st
 March 2025?

Chorley Town Hall - Fabric upgrade and Heat Decarbonisation Scheme

Step 1: Project Introduction

Chorley Council

In approximately 250 words please introduce your project and the key features and measures that you wish to deliver. Please include intended outcomes and successes.
This introduction (or a finalised version) may be used for promotional and marketing purposes to showcase your application and its impact in the event of successful funding. Please attach any 

photos you wish to be included within promotional materials.

Name of main contractor 

organisation:

Procurement status:

Chorley Town Hall was built in the 1880's and is a building of character based in the centre of Chorley, Lancashire.

The asset is in the retained estate of Chorley Council, but is inefficient in its gas use and although the DEC has improved over recent years, the building remains draught, has 

cold spots and the heating system is atleast 33 years.

Improvements have been made to the building which under pin the increase in DEC rating, but as has been shown by the building audit and heating study, more can be done to 

improve the building and its decarbonisation through the introduction of low carbon heating through an optimised hybrid heat pump solution.

Pictures of the building are contained in the building report and also in Folder 1.2 of Chorley Town Hall

An existing solar system provides renewable, zero carbon electricity to the Town hall and with other improvements such as 50% double glazing and some loft insulation that 

have been made to the Town hall has resulted in a large improvement in the DEC rating from has improved from E (108-2008) to C (52-2018).

The Town Hall has started on a whole building approach to decarbonisation, but a grant from the PSDS scheme will hugely assist and support Chorley Council to make a big 

transition in this historic building.

Please answer yes/no to the following questions, if any require additional commentary please include this in the boxes provided:

1. Can you confirm your organisation owns or has a long-term lease arrangement for the buildings where you wish to undertake these measures?

2. Can you confirm that the proposed measures have not yet started?

3a. If you are applying for a single year project, can you confirm that all the proposed measures will be completed by 31
st
 March 2023?

3b.  If you are applying for a two year project, can you confirm that all the proposed measures will be completed by 31
st 

March 2024?

Question 1-4 relate to project eligibility. If you think the answer is no to any of these question please contact Phase3PSDSgrants@salixfinance.co.uk before submitting.

Agenda Page 45

Agenda Item 8



No

Additional commentary

Yes

Additional commentary

© Salix 2022

Council has secured funds required to fund the boiler part of the hybrid low carbon heating system.  These are cited as the like for like costs for the boiler replacement.  This 

application is for the low carbon heating element, heat emitters and insulation upgrades and BMS controls only.

 

7. Is the project dependent on any other funding stream(s)? If yes, please provide detail below:

6. Does the project include any Private Finance Initiative (PFI) buildings? If yes, please provide detail on the buildings and any contractual requirements for 

redundancy at these sites below:

Agenda Page 46

Agenda Item 8



  1 / 12 
 

Schedule 1 : Terms and Conditions 

 
Phase 3 Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme Terms and Conditions 
 
These terms and conditions will govern the relationship between Salix Finance Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales 
with company number 05068355 and whose registered office is at 6th Floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AB (Salix) and 
the Recipient in connection with the provision of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) Grant by Salix to the Recipient.   
 
These terms and conditions shall apply to and be incorporated into the Grant Offer Letter and should be read in conjunction with the 
Grant Offer Letter. These terms and conditions, the Grant Offer Letter and its schedules shall together constitute the Agreement. 
 
Definitions and interpretation 
 
1.1 In these terms and conditions, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

Accountable Officer: the person appointed by the Recipient, and whose identity is approved by Salix, who is responsible for 
ensuring that the Recipient uses the Grant in compliance with the Agreement. 
 
Bribery Act: the Bribery Act 2010 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act from time to time together with any 
guidance or codes of practice issued by the relevant government department concerning the legislation. 
 
Building Contract: the contract to design and/or complete the design of and build the Project. 

 
Business Day: a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for general 
business in London. 
 
Change of Control: means the sale of all or substantially all the assets of a party to the Agreement; any merger, consolidation 
or acquisition of a party to the Agreement with, by or into another corporation, entity or person, or any change in the ownership 
of more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting capital stock of a party to the Agreement in one or more related transactions. 
 
Dangerous Substance: any radioactive emission, noise or natural or artificial substance (whether in the form of a solid, liquid, 
gas or vapour, including any controlled, special, hazardous, toxic, radioactive or dangerous substance or waste), the generation, 
transportation, storage, treatment, use or disposal of which (whether alone or in combination with any other substance) gives 
rise to a risk of causing harm to any living organism or damaging the Environment or public health or welfare. 
 
Data Protection Legislation: all applicable data protection legislation and privacy legislation in force from time to time in the 
UK including the GDPR; the Data Protection Act 2018; the Privacy and Electronic Communications Directive 2002/58/EC (as 
updated by Directive 2009/136/EC) and the Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426); any 
other directly applicable European Union regulation relating to privacy; and all other legislation and regulatory requirements in 
force from time to time which apply to a party relating to the use of Personal Data and the privacy of electronic communications. 
 
Deleterious Material: any material, equipment, product or kit that is generally accepted, or generally suspected, in the 
construction industry at the relevant time as: 
 
(a) posing a threat to the health and safety of any person; 
 
(b) posing a threat to the structural stability, performance or physical integrity of the Project, or any part or component of 

the Project; 
 
(c) reducing, or possibly reducing, the normal life expectancy of the Project or any part or component of the Project; or 
 
(d) not being in accordance with any relevant British standard, relevant code of practice or good building practice. 
 
Eligible Expenditure: the expenditure incurred, or to be incurred, by the Recipient during the Grant Period for the purposes of 
delivering the Project in accordance with the Project Programme, Grant Application and the Agreement, and which comply in 
all respects with the eligibility rules set out in Clause 5 of these Terms and Conditions. 
 
Environment: the natural and man-made environment including all or any of the following media, namely air, water and land 
(including air within buildings and other natural or man-made structures above or below the ground) and any living organisms 
(including man) or systems supported by those media. 
 
Environmental Law: all applicable laws, statutes, regulations, secondary legislation, bye-laws, common law, directives, treaties 
and other measures, judgments and decisions of any court or tribunal, codes of practice and guidance notes insofar as they 
relate to or apply to the Environment. 
 
Evidence of Need: such evidence requested by Salix which Salix considers, in its absolute discretion, provides it with a 
sufficient level of assurance to demonstrate that the Grant will be used for Eligible Expenditure. 
 
GDPR: General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679). 
 
Governing Body: the governing body of the Recipient including its directors or trustees. 
 
Grant: the sum specified in the Grant Offer Letter, to be paid to the Recipient in accordance with the Agreement. 
 
Grant Application: the application for the Grant, submitted by the Recipient to Salix, which incorporates the Grant Application 
Support Notes, a copy of which is attached at Schedule 7 to the Grant Offer Letter. 

Agenda Page 47 Agenda Item 8



  2 / 12 
 

 
Grant Application Support Notes: any notes or documentation supporting the Recipient’s application for the Grant. 
 
Grant Offer Letter: the letter from Salix to the Recipient, setting out the basis upon which the Grant will be provided to the 
Recipient. 
 
Grant End Date: the date referred to as the ‘Grant End Date’ in the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Grant Period: the period for which the Grant is awarded starting on the Grant Start Date and ending on the Grant End Date. 
 
Grant Start Date: the date referred to as the ‘Grant Start Date’ in the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Intellectual Property Rights: all patents, copyrights and design rights (whether registered or not) and all applications for any 
of the foregoing and all rights of confidence and Know-How however arising for their full term and any renewals and extensions. 
 
Know-How: information, data, know-how or experience whether patentable or not and including but not limited to any technical 
and commercial information relating to research, design, development, manufacture, use or sale. 
 
Measures: the individual items of design, construction or other building works which are necessary to achieve Practical 
Completion, as contained within the Project Programme. 
 
Necessary Consents: any planning permission required for the Project, any environmental licences and any other authorisation 
under any other statute, bye-law or regulation of any competent authority that is reasonably necessary to enable the works on 
the Project to be lawfully commenced, carried out or completed. 
 
Payment Date(s): the date or dates on which a Grant is made or is to be made. 
 
Payment Forecast:  Details of when payment requests for eligible expenditure will be submitted to Salix based on the Project 
Programme and in a format as requested by Salix. 
 
Payment Request: a request for payment of a Grant, or part of a Grant, in the form set out at Schedule 5 (Payment Request) 
to the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Personal Data:  shall have the same meaning as set out in the Data Protection Legislation. 
 
Practical Completion: the date on which the certificate of practical completion (or the equivalent evidence of practical 
completion of works) of the Project is properly issued in accordance with the terms of the Building Contract. 
 
Procurement Regulations: the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, Defence Security 
Public Contracts Regulations 2011 and the Utilities and Contracts Regulations 2016 together with their amendments, updates 
and replacements from time to time. 
 
Prohibited Act: 
 
(a) offering, giving or agreeing to give to any servant of the Crown any gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement 

or reward for: 
 

(i) doing or not doing (or for having done or not having done) any act in relation to the obtaining or performance of 
the Agreement or any other contract with the Crown; or 

 
(ii) showing or not showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the Agreement or any other contract with 

the Crown; 
 

(b) committing any offence: 
 

(i) under the Bribery Act; 
 

(ii) under legislation creating offences in respect of fraudulent acts; or 
 
(iii) at common law in respect of fraudulent acts in relation to the Agreement or any other contract with the Crown; or 

 
(iv) defrauding or attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Crown. 

 
Project: the project or projects operated by the Recipient to assist in the reduction of energy use or the switch to, or enabling 
works in preparation for, a cleaner heat source, as set out in the Grant Application and as described in the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Project Start Date: the date upon which works on the Project are to commence, as specified in the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Project Programme: the detailed timetable for delivery and completion of the Project including a breakdown of the Measures 
and the cost of such Measures, as set out in Schedule 3 (Project Programme) to the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Public Sector Body: any body within England who undertakes tasks paid for wholly or partly by public funds including (without 
limitation) any government department or authority, any non-departmental government body, any local and public authority, 
emergency service, institution of further and higher education, maintained school within the state education system, academy, 
Multi-Academy Trust, free school, nursery school maintained by a local authority and any NHS Trust or Foundation Trust. 
 
Recipient: the person named as such in the Grant Offer Letter. 

Agenda Page 48 Agenda Item 8



  3 / 12 
 

 
Secretary of State: Secretary of State for the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (and his successors, 
assigns and transferees). 
 
Specific Conditions: any specific conditions set out at Schedule 2 (Specific Conditions) to the Grant Offer Letter. 
 
Terms and Conditions: these terms and conditions. 
 
VAT: value added tax payable by virtue of the Value Added Tax Act 1994 and any similar tax from time to time in addition to it, 
replacing it or performing a similar fiscal function. 

 
1.2 In the event of any inconsistency between the Grant Offer Letter and these Terms and Conditions, the provisions of the Grant 

Offer Letter shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between these Terms and Conditions and any Specific Conditions, 
the provisions of the Specific Conditions shall prevail. 
 

1.3 Headings do not affect the interpretation of these Terms and Conditions. 
 

1.4 Any reference to Salix in these Terms and Conditions includes references to its successors, transferees or assigns. 
 

1.5 A reference to a law is a reference to it as it is in force for the time being taking account of any amendment, extension, application 
or re-enactment and includes any subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it. 
 

1.6 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body (whether or not having separate legal personality). 
 

1.7 A reference to a Clause is a reference to a clause of these Terms and Conditions. 
 

1.8 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the plural and in the plural include the singular. 
 

1.9 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include a reference to the other genders. 
 

2 Purpose of Grant 
 

2.1 The Recipient shall use the Grant only for the delivery of the Project in accordance with the Project Programme, the Grant 
Application and the Agreement. The Grant shall not be used for any other purpose without the prior written agreement of Salix.   
 

2.2 The Recipient shall not make any significant change to the Project or the Project Programme without Salix's prior written 
agreement. 

 

2.3 The Grant is being provided to the Recipient in consideration for the Recipient agreeing to deliver the Project and agreeing to 
comply with the Agreement. 

  
3 Payment of the Grant 

 
3.1 Subject to Clause 17 of these Terms and Conditions, Salix shall pay an amount not exceeding the Grant to the Recipient in 

instalments based on agreed milestones, subject to: 
 

3.1.1 the Recipient providing Salix with Evidence of Need; 
 

3.1.2 the necessary funds being made available to Salix by the Secretary of State when payments fall due; 
 
3.1.3 Salix receiving a completed Payment Request signed by the Accountable Officer on behalf of the Recipient no later 

than 15 Business Days before the proposed Payment Date; 
 
3.1.4 Salix receiving all documents and information which it may, in its absolute discretion, request from the Recipient;  

 
3.1.5 the Recipient complying with any Specific Conditions; and 

 

3.1.6 the further conditions precedent that on each Payment Date: 
 

(a) Salix is satisfied, in its absolute discretion, that the confirmations provided by the Accountable Officer on behalf of 
the Recipient in the Payment Request are true and accurate; and 

 
(b) Salix is satisfied, in its absolute discretion and subject to Clause 3.5 below, that the remaining Grant to be provided 

is sufficient to meet the remaining costs required for delivery of the Project in accordance with the Project 
Programme. 

 
3.2 The Recipient agrees and accepts that payments of the Grant can only be made to the extent that Salix has been provided with 

available funds by the Secretary of State. 
 

3.3 No Payment Request shall be submitted before the Grant Start Date. 
 

3.4 No Grant shall be paid unless and until Salix is satisfied that such payment will be used for Eligible Expenditure. 

 
3.5 In the event of any overspend by the Recipient in its delivery of the Project outside of the sums set out in the Project Programme, 

the amount of such overspend shall be met by the Recipient from its own funds unless Salix, in its absolute discretion: 

Agenda Page 49 Agenda Item 8



  4 / 12 
 

 
3.5.1 agrees to increase the Grant by an amount equal to the overspend; or 

 
3.5.2 agrees to adjust the Project Programme and/or reduce the Measures so as to ensure that the remaining Grant is 

sufficient to meet the remaining costs require for delivery of the Project. 
 

3.6 The Grant shall be paid into a bank account in the name of the Recipient, the details of which shall be notified to Salix prior to 
the first Payment Request, which must be an ordinary business bank account.   
 

3.7 The Recipient shall not transfer any part of the Grant to bank accounts which are not ordinary business accounts within the 
clearing bank system, without the prior written consent of Salix. 
 

3.8 The Recipient shall promptly repay to Salix any money incorrectly paid to it either as a result of an administrative error or 
otherwise.  This includes (without limitation) situations where either an incorrect sum of money has been paid or where Grant 
monies have been paid in error before all conditions attaching to the Grant have been complied with by the Recipient. 
 

4 Use of the Grant 
 

4.1 The Grant shall be used by the Recipient for the delivery of the Project in accordance with the Project Programme, the Grant 
Application and in accordance with the Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the amount of the Grant that the Recipient may 
spend on any item of Eligible Expenditure listed in the Project Programme shall not exceed the forecasted amounts as listed in 
the Project Programme (without prior written agreement of Salix). 
 

4.2 The Recipient shall not use the Grant to: 
 
4.2.1 make any payment to members of its Governing Body; 
 
4.2.2 purchase buildings or land; or 

 
4.2.3 pay for any expenditure commitments of the Recipient entered into before the Grant Start Date, 

 
unless this has been approved in writing by Salix. 
 

4.3 The Recipient shall not spend any part of the Grant on the delivery of the Project after the Grant Period. 
 

4.4 The Grant Period may be extended with the prior written consent of Salix, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. 
 

4.5 Should any part of the Grant remain unspent at the end of the Grant Period, or should any part of the Grant be provided for 
items of Eligible Expenditure which subsequently cost less than forecasted in the Project Programme, the Recipient shall, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by Salix, ensure that any unspent monies are returned to Salix. 
 

4.6 Where the Recipient enters into a contract with a third party in connection with the Project, the Recipient will remain responsible 
for paying that third party. Salix has no responsibility for paying the invoices of third parties. 

 

4.7 Onward payment of the Grant and the use of sub-contractors shall not relieve the Recipient of any of its obligations under the 
Agreement. 

 

4.8 Any liabilities arising at the end of the Project and which are not otherwise incorporated within the Project Programme, including 
but not limited to any redundancy liabilities for staff employed by the Recipient to deliver the Project, must be managed and paid 
for by the Recipient using other resources of the Recipient and not using the Grant. There will be no additional funding available 
from Salix for this purpose. 

 
5 Eligibility Rules 

 
5.1 Salix will only pay the Grant in respect of Eligible Expenditure incurred by the Recipient to deliver the Project and the Recipient 

will use the Grant solely for delivery of the Project in accordance with the Project Programme. 
 

5.2 The only costs/payments that will be classified as Eligible Expenditure are those specific items of expenditure set out in the 
Project Programme. 

 
5.3 Notwithstanding any items of expenditure set out in the Project Programme, the Recipient may not use the Grant to meet any 

of the following payments: 
 

5.3.1 paid for lobbying, which means using the Grant to fund lobbying (via an external firm or in-house staff) in order to 
undertake activities intended to influence or attempt to influence Parliament, government or political activity; or 
attempting to influence legislative or regulatory action; 

 
5.3.2 using the Grant to directly enable one part of government to challenge another on topics unrelated to the agreed purpose 

of the Grant; 
 

5.3.3 using the Grant to petition for additional funding; 
 

5.3.4 expenses such as for entertaining, specifically aimed at exerting undue influence to change government policy; 
 

5.3.5 input VAT reclaimable by the Recipient from HMRC; and 
 

Agenda Page 50 Agenda Item 8



  5 / 12 
 

5.3.6 payments for activities of a political or exclusively religious nature. 
 

5.3.7 contributions in kind;  
 

5.3.8 interest payments or service charge payments for finance leases;  
 

5.3.9 gifts;  
 

5.3.10 entertaining (meaning anything that would be a taxable benefit to the person being entertained, according to current UK 
tax regulations); 

 
5.3.11 statutory fines, criminal fines or penalties, civil penalties, damages or any associated legal costs;  

 
5.3.12 costs incurred in giving evidence to Parliamentary Select Committees; 

  
5.3.13 costs incurred in attending meetings with government ministers or civil servants to discuss the progress of the Project;  

 
5.3.14 costs incurred in responding to public consultations or costs incurred in lobbying other people to respond to any such 

consultation;  
 

5.3.15 costs incurred in providing independent evidence based advice to local or national government as part of the general 
policy debate; 

 
5.3.16 payments for works or activities which the Recipient has a statutory duty to undertake, or that are fully funded by other 

sources;  
 

5.3.17 bad debts to related parties;  
 

5.3.18 payments for unfair dismissal or other compensation;  
 

5.3.19 depreciation, amortisation or impairment of assets owned by the Grant Recipient; and/or 
 

5.3.20 liabilities incurred before the Grant Start Date unless expressly included in the Project Programme. 
 

6 Accountable Officer 
 

6.1 The Recipient must appoint an Accountable Officer who is responsible for ensuring that the Recipient uses the Grant in 
compliance with the Agreement. 
 

6.2 The identity of the Accountable Officer must be approved by Salix prior to the commencement of the Project, and the identity of 
such person shall not change during the Grant Period without the prior written consent of Salix.  

 
6.3 The Accountable Officer must: 

 
6.3.1 maintain oversight of the Recipient’s use of the Grant and safeguard, control and ensure the efficient, economical and 

effective management of the Grant; 
 

6.3.2 advise the Recipient on the discharge of the Recipient’s responsibilities under the Agreement; 
 

6.3.3 ensure that principles of probity, robust governance, transparency and value for money are maintained at all times in 
relation to the utilisation of the Grant; 

 
6.3.4 be responsible for signing each Payment Request; and 

 
6.3.5 ensure that conflicts of interest are avoided. 

 
7 Covenants 
 
7.1 In consideration of the Grant being given, the Recipient undertakes to Salix: 

 
7.1.1 not to use the Grant otherwise than in respect of the Project, not to use the Grant to subsidise any economic activity, 

and in particular not to use the Grant to generate revenue or capital gain, or to make any of the payments set out in 
Clause 5.3; 
 

7.1.2 that it will respond fully, promptly and truthfully (to the best of its knowledge) to any enquiries that Salix may make about 
the Project and/or use of the Grant;  
 

7.1.3 to ensure that the works on the Project are completed, and the design, construction and development of the Project is 
undertaken, in a proper and workmanlike manner, using materials of good quality which are fit for their respective 
purposes, and in accordance with: 

 
(a) the Project Programme and Grant Application; 

 
(b) the Necessary Consents and all applicable authorisations and laws; 

 
(c) the Building Contract and any other contracts and agreements relating to the completion of the Project. 

Agenda Page 51 Agenda Item 8



  6 / 12 
 

 
7.1.4 that it shall properly and diligently monitor the work on the Project during the Grant Period, and for such period after 

Practical Completion as Salix shall reasonably specify, to ensure that the Grant is being used appropriately and the 
Project continues to produce, or will in the future produce, the energy savings and CO2 reductions envisaged and 
agreed with Salix; 

 
7.1.5 that it shall keep a full, accurate and proper auditable record of the progress of the Project, including all Eligible 

Expenditure and other costs incurred in relation to the Project and the present and future effectiveness of the Project in 
delivering energy savings and CO2 reductions, and shall provide such information, evidence and assistance as is 
reasonably required, and in such form as specified, by Salix or the Secretary of State including, but not limited to, any 
information relating to the amount of CO2 savings and cost effectiveness of such savings expected to be attained during 
and after Practical Completion of the Project. 

 
7.1.6 where reasonably specified by Salix, it shall ensure that any information or evidence provided under the Agreement is 

audited by an identified and independent reporting accountant or otherwise confirmed or verified by a person of such 
other relevant expertise; 

 

7.1.7 that it shall not create, or permit to subsist any mortgage, charge (whether floating or specific), pledge, lien or other 
security interest on any of its undertaking, property or assets comprised or utilised in the Project without the prior written 
consent of Salix 

 
7.1.8 that it will ensure at all times that it has appropriate auditing arrangements in place in relation to the Grant and its use, 

which shall include, but shall not be limited to, keeping and maintaining full and accurate records and evidence of the 
use of the Grant, including expenses defrayed, and of any third parties indirectly benefitting from the Grant, in particular 
contractors, manufacturers and installers of equipment installed as part of the Project; 
 

7.1.9 that it will ensure that no Dangerous Substance has been deposited, disposed of, kept, treated, processed, 
manufactured, used, collected, sorted or produced at any time, or is present in the Environment, in connection with the 
Project in circumstances that are likely to result in a breach of Environmental Law; 
 

7.1.10 that it will ensure that no professional engaged on the Project has specified or used anything in the work on the Project 
that, at the time of specification or use, was a Deleterious Material; 
 

7.1.11 that it will retain the records maintained under Clause 7.1.5 for a period of not less than six years from the Grant End 
Date and shall allow Salix access to such records; 
 

7.1.12 that it will provide Salix with any updated information and documentation relating to the cost of delivering the Project, 
the expected energy savings and CO2 reduction and any expected or anticipated changes required to the Measures or 
Project Programme, as soon as it becomes aware of the same; 

 

7.1.13 that all estimates, forecasts and projections provided by the Recipient, or on its behalf, to Salix in connection with the 
Project or the Project Programme have been prepared with due care and skill, are based on information known to it and 
reasonably expected to be relevant, and are subject only to such assumptions and qualifications as are expressly made; 
 

7.1.14 to cause Practical Completion to occur by no later than the Grant End Date and otherwise in accordance with the Project 
Programme and Grant Application; 

 

7.1.15 that it will comply with any Specific Conditions; 
 

7.1.16 that it will maintain or cause to be maintained in full force and effect adequate insurances in respect of all its assets 
comprised or utilised in the Project against all risks and contingencies; and 
 

7.1.17 that it will ensure that all professional consultants and/or contractors involved in carrying out works on the Project hold 
and maintain appropriate professional indemnity insurance cover in relation to the services carried out or to be carried 
out and that the Recipient obtains copies of the relevant certificates. 

 
8 Accounts and records 
 
8.1 The Recipient shall keep accurate and up-to-date accounts and records of the receipt and expenditure of the Grant monies 

received by it. 
 

8.2 The Recipient shall keep all invoices, receipts and accounts and any other relevant documents relating to the Project and the 
expenditure of the Grant for a period of at least six years following the Grant End Date.  Salix shall have the right to review, at 
Salix's request, the Recipient's accounts and records that relate to the Project and the expenditure of the Grant and shall have 
the right to take copies of such accounts and records. 

 

8.3 The Recipient shall ensure that all its sub-contractors retain each record, item of data and document relating to the Project for 
a period of at least six years from the Grant End Date 

 
8.4 The Recipient shall comply and facilitate Salix's compliance with all statutory requirements as regards accounts, audit or 

examination of accounts, annual reports and annual returns applicable to itself and Salix. 
 

9 Monitoring and reporting 
 

Agenda Page 52 Agenda Item 8



  7 / 12 
 

9.1 The Recipient shall closely monitor the delivery and success of the Project throughout the Grant Period to ensure that the 
Agreement is being adhered to. 
 

9.2 The Recipient acknowledges that Salix may monitor the Project to ensure that the Project fulfils all requirements specified by 
Salix and the Secretary of State, including providing the energy savings and CO2 reductions envisaged and agreed with Salix 
at the outset of the Project. 

 

9.3 On or before the 15th day of each calendar month during the Grant Period, the Recipient shall provide Salix with a report, signed 
by the Accountable Officer, containing the information set out in Schedule 4 of the Grant Offer Letter (Monitoring Reports) 
including an updated Payment Forecast, as of the 10th day of the calendar month, together with copies of all invoices or other 
evidence of the total costs and expenses incurred since the previous report. 
 

9.4 Where the Recipient has obtained funding from a third party for its delivery of part of the Project, the Recipient shall include the 
amount of such funding in the reports provided pursuant to Clause 9.3 together with details of what that funding has been used 
for. 
 

9.5 Along with its first report provided pursuant to Clause 9.3, the Recipient shall provide Salix with a risk register and insurance 
review in the format requested by Salix. The Recipient shall address the health and safety of its staff in the risk register. 
 

9.6 The Recipient shall on request provide Salix with such further information, explanations and documents as Salix may reasonably 
require in order for it to establish that the Grant has been used properly in accordance with the Agreement. 
 

9.7 The Recipient shall permit any person authorised by Salix such reasonable access to its employees, agents, premises, facilities 
and records, for the purpose of discussing, monitoring and evaluating the Recipient's fulfilment of the conditions of the 
Agreement and shall, if so required, provide appropriate oral or written explanations from them. 
 

9.8 The Recipient shall, if so requested by Salix, permit any person authorised by Salix for the purpose to visit the Recipient once 
every quarter to monitor the delivery of the Project.  Where, in its reasonable opinion, Salix considers that additional visits are 
necessary to monitor the Project, it shall be entitled to authorise any person to make such visits on its behalf.   
 

9.9 The Recipient shall provide Salix with a final report on Practical Completion which shall confirm whether the Project has been 
successfully and properly completed and which shall contain the information set out in Schedule 4 of the Grant Offer Letter 
(Monitoring Reports) in respect of the Grant Period. 

 

9.10 On each of the first three years’ following Practical Completion, the Recipient shall provide Salix with a report outlining the 
effectiveness of the Project in delivering energy savings and CO2 reductions, and containing such other information and 
evidence as is reasonably requested by Salix in relation to the Project. 

 

9.11 The Recipient represents and undertakes (and shall repeat such representations on delivery of the relevant report or 
information): 

 

9.11.1 that the reports and information it gives pursuant to this Clause 9 are accurate; 
 

9.11.2 that it has diligently made full and proper enquiry of the matter pertaining to the reports and information given; and 
 

9.11.3 that any data it provided pursuant to the Grant Application may be shared within the powers conferred by legislation 
with other organisations for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime. 

 
10 Receipt of other funding sources 

 
10.1 The Recipient is prohibited from accepting any other public sector or European funding in relation to the Project without first 

obtaining the prior written consent of Salix and the Recipient shall not claim or use any part of the Grant for any purpose other 
than the delivery of the Project. 

10.2 The Recipient shall comply with the subsidy control rules applicable in the United Kingdom in relation to the delivery of the 
Project at the time this Grant Offer Letter is signed (including, but not limited to,  The World Trade Organisation Agreement on 
Subsidies and Countervailing Measures; The UK- EU Trade and Co-operation Agreement; and the UK’s other Free Trade 
Agreements) and shall ensure that the delivery of the Project shall not put the Secretary of State and/or Salix in breach of such 
subsidy control rules. 
 

10.3 The Recipient acknowledges and represents to the Secretary of State and Salix that the Grant is being awarded on the basis 
that the Project, and related work being undertaken using the Grant, do not affect trade in goods and electricity between Northern 
Ireland and the European Union and shall ensure that the Grant is not used in way that affects any such trade. 

 

10.4 The Recipient is required to obtain and retain all declarations and information as may be required to enable the Recipient, Salix 
and the Secretary of State to comply with the relevant subsidy control rules which apply in domestic UK law from 1 January 
2021, and to provide copies of such declarations and information to the Secretary of State and Salix when required to do so. 

 

10.5 The Recipient shall maintain appropriate records of compliance with the relevant subsidy control regime and shall take all 
reasonable steps to assist both the Secretary of State and Salix to comply with their obligations to maintain such records and 
respond to any proceedings or investigation(s) into, or in connection with, the Grant and/or Project by any relevant court or 
tribunal of relevant jurisdiction or regulatory body.  

 

Agenda Page 53 Agenda Item 8



  8 / 12 
 

10.6 Salix may, if required to do so by the Secretary of State or any other Governmental body, recover from the Recipient, on demand, 
any Grant, plus interest, made in contravention of the applicable subsidy control rules.  
 

10.7 The Recipient shall, if requested by the Secretary of Stateor any Governmental body or Salix, repay to the Secretary of State, 
such Governmental body or Salix, any Grant, plus interest, made in contravention of the applicable subsidy control rules. 

 

10.8 The Recipient accepts that the Secretary of State and/or Salix may exercise the options referred to in paragraphs 10.6 and 10.7 
where the Secretary of State and/or Salix: 

 

10.8.1 is required to cease grant funding or to recover all, or any proportion, of the Grant or any other amount by virtue 
of a decision of a court or any equivalent body as a result of the relevant subsidy control rules which apply in 
domestic UK law from 1 January 2021; or 
 

10.8.2 has reasonable grounds to consider that the payment of the Grant, or the Recipient’s use of it, contravenes any 
requirement of law, in particular (but without limitation) the relevant subsidy control rules which apply in domestic 
UK law from 1 January 2021. 

 
11 Acknowledgment and publicity 

 
11.1 The Recipient shall not publish any material referring to the Project or Salix without the prior written agreement of Salix. The 

Recipient shall acknowledge the support of Salix, and the funding provided by BEIS, in any materials that refer to the Project 
and in any written or spoken public presentations about the Project. Such acknowledgements (where appropriate or as 
requested by Salix) shall include both Salix's and BEIS’s name and logo (or any future name or logo adopted by Salix or BEIS) 
using the templates provided by Salix from time to time. 
 

11.2 In using Salix's name and logo, the Recipient shall comply with all reasonable branding guidelines issued by Salix from time to 
time. 
 

11.3 The Recipient agrees to participate in and co-operate with promotional activities relating to the Project that may be instigated 
and/or organised by Salix. 
 

11.4 Salix may acknowledge the Recipient's involvement in the Project as appropriate without prior notice. 
 

11.5 The Recipient shall comply with all reasonable requests from Salix to facilitate visits, provide reports, statistics, photographs 
and case studies that will assist Salix in its promotional and fundraising activities relating to the Project. 
 

12 Intellectual Property Rights 
 

12.1 Salix and the Recipient agree that all rights, title and interest in or to any information, data, reports, documents, procedures, 
forecasts, technology, Know-How and any other Intellectual Property Rights whatsoever owned by either Salix or the Recipient 
before the Grant Start Date or developed by either party during the Grant Period, shall remain the property of that party. 
 

12.2 Where Salix has provided the Recipient with any of its Intellectual Property Rights for use in connection with the Project 
(including without limitation its name and logo), the Recipient shall, on termination of the Agreement, cease to use such 
Intellectual Property Rights immediately and shall either return or destroy such Intellectual Property Rights as requested by 
Salix. 
 

13 Confidentiality 
 

13.1 Subject to Clause 14 (Freedom of Information), each party shall during the term of the Agreement and thereafter keep secret 
and confidential all Intellectual Property Rights or Know-How or other business, technical or commercial information disclosed 
to it as a result of the Agreement and shall not disclose the same to any person save to the extent necessary to perform its 
obligations in accordance with the terms of the Agreement or save as expressly authorised in writing by the other party. 
 

13.2 The obligation of confidentiality contained in this clause shall not apply or shall cease to apply to any Intellectual Property Rights, 
Know-How or other business, technical or commercial information which: 

 
13.2.1 at the time of its disclosure by the disclosing party is already in the public domain or which subsequently enters the 

public domain other than by breach of the terms of the Agreement by the receiving party; 
 

13.2.2 is already known to the receiving party as evidenced by written records at the time of its disclosure by the disclosing 
party and was not otherwise acquired by the receiving party from the disclosing party under any obligations of 
confidence; or 
 

13.2.3 is at any time after the date of the Agreement acquired by the receiving party from a third party having the right to 
disclose the same to the receiving party without breach of the obligations owed by that party to the disclosing party. 

 
14 Freedom of information 

 
14.1 The Recipient acknowledges that Salix is subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and the 

Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIRs). 
 

14.2 The Recipient shall: 
 

14.2.1 provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably requested by Salix to enable Salix to comply with its 
obligations under the FOIA and EIRs; 

Agenda Page 54 Agenda Item 8



  9 / 12 
 

 
14.2.2 transfer to Salix all requests for information relating to the Agreement that it receives as soon as practicable and in any 

event within 2 working days of receipt; 
 

14.2.3 provide Salix with a copy of all information belonging to Salix requested in the request for information which is in its 
possession or control in the form that Salix requires within 5 working days (or such other period as Salix may reasonably 
specify) of Salix's request for such information; and   
 

14.2.4 not respond directly to a request for information unless authorised in writing to do so by Salix. 
 

14.3 The Recipient acknowledges that Salix may be required under the FOIA and EIRs to disclose information without consulting or 
obtaining consent from the Recipient. Salix shall take reasonable steps to notify the Recipient of a request for information (in 
accordance with the Secretary of State's section 45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of the Functions of Public Authorities 
under Part 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and reasonably practical for it to do so but (notwithstanding any 
other provision in the Agreement) Salix shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any information 
is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the FOIA and/or the EIRs.  
  

15 Data protection 
 

15.1 Both Parties will comply with all applicable requirements of and all their obligations under the Data Protection Legislation which 
arise in connection with the Agreement. 
 

16 Procurement of Capital Equipment, Goods and Services 
 

16.1 The procurement of all works, equipment, goods and services required to deliver the Project must be carried out in accordance 
with the Recipient’s internal procurement guidelines and financial regulations, and with all applicable laws including the 
Procurement Regulations. Salix shall not be liable for the Recipient’s failure to comply with its obligations under such guidelines, 
regulations or laws. 
 

17 Withholding, suspending and repayment of Grant 
 

17.1 Salix's intention is that the Grant will be paid to the Recipient in full. However, without prejudice to Salix's other rights and 
remedies, Salix may at its discretion reduce, withhold or suspend payment of all or any part of the Grant and/or require 
repayment of all or part of the Grant if: 

 
17.1.1 the Recipient has used, or intends to use, all or any part of the Grant for purposes other than those for which the Grant 

has been awarded; 
 

17.1.2 the delivery of the Project does not start within 6 weeks of the Project Start Date and the Recipient has failed to provide 
Salix with a reasonable explanation for the delay; 
 

17.1.3 Salix, acting reasonably, considers that the Recipient has not made satisfactory progress with the delivery of the Project; 
 

17.1.4 the Recipient is, in the reasonable opinion of Salix, delivering the Project in a negligent manner and/or not in accordance 
with the Project Programme or Grant Application; 

 
17.1.5 the Recipient obtains duplicate funding from a third party for the Project; 

 
17.1.6 the Recipient obtains funding from a third party without prior written consent of Salix, such consent not to be 

unreasonably withheld; 
 

17.1.7 the Recipient provides Salix with any materially misleading or inaccurate information and/or any of the information 
provided in the Grant Application or in any subsequent correspondence is found to be incorrect or incomplete to an 
extent that Salix considers to be significant; 
 

17.1.8 the Recipient commits or committed a Prohibited Act or fails to report a Prohibited Act to Salix, whether committed by 
the Recipient or a third party, as soon as they become aware of it; 
 

17.1.9 any member of the Governing Body, employee or volunteer of the Recipient has (a) acted dishonestly or negligently at 
any time and directly or indirectly to the detriment of the Project or (b) taken any actions which, in the reasonable opinion 
of Salix, bring or are likely to bring Salix's name or reputation into disrepute (and actions include omissions in this 
context) or (c) transferred, assigned or novated the Grant to a third party or (d) failed to act in accordance with all 
applicable laws; 

 
17.1.10 the Recipient ceases to operate for any reason, or it passes a resolution (or any court of competent jurisdiction makes 

an order) that it be wound up or dissolved (other than for the purpose of a bona fide and solvent reconstruction or 
amalgamation); 
 

17.1.11 the Recipient becomes insolvent, or it is declared bankrupt, or it is placed into receivership, administration or liquidation, 
or a petition has been presented for its winding up, or it enters into any arrangement or composition for the benefit of its 
creditors, or it is unable to pay its debts as they fall due; 
 

17.1.12 in the sole opinion of Salix, the Grant has been used for illegal state aid; 
 

17.1.13 in the sole opinion of Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs, the Recipient engages in tax evasion or aggressive tax 
avoidance; 

Agenda Page 55 Agenda Item 8



  10 / 12 
 

 

17.1.14 Salix is unable to pay the Grant to the Recipient because it has not been provided by the Secretary of State with sufficient 
funding to provide the Grant; 
 

17.1.15 in the sole opinion of Salix, there is a financial irregularity within the Recipient which is not rectified within the timescale 
provided by Salix;  

 

17.1.16 the Recipient undergoes a Change of Control which Salix, acting reasonably, considers: 
 

(a) will be materially detrimental to the completion of the Project and/or; 
 

(b) causes, or would cause, the Recipient to be in breach of the Agreement; 
 

(c) would raise national security concerns; or 
 

17.1.17 the Recipient fails to comply with the Agreement and fails to rectify any such failure within 30 days of receiving written 
notice detailing the failure;  
 

17.1.18 Salix gives at least 2 months’ notice in writing to the Recipient;or 
 

17.1.19 in the sole opinion of Salix, the Recipient has not met the terms of the Specific Conditions provided in Schedule 2. 
 
17.2 Salix may retain or set off any sums owed to it by the Recipient which have fallen due and payable against any sums due to the 

Recipient under the Agreement or any other agreement pursuant to which the Recipient provides goods or services to Salix. 
 

17.3 The Recipient shall make any payments due to Salix without any deduction whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, discount, 
abatement or otherwise. 

 
17.4 Should the Recipient be subject to financial or other difficulties which are capable of having a material impact on its effective 

delivery of the Project or compliance with the Agreement it will notify Salix as soon as possible so that, if possible, and without 
creating any legal obligation, Salix will have an opportunity to provide assistance in resolving the problem or to take action to 
protect Salix and the Grant monies. 
 

18 Anti-discrimination 
 

18.1 The Recipient shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of any law, enactment, order, or regulation relating 
to discrimination (whether in race, gender, religion, disability, sexual orientation, age or otherwise) in employment. 
 

18.2 The Recipient shall take all reasonable steps to secure the observance of Clause 18.1 by all servants, employees or agents of 
the Recipient and all suppliers and sub-contractors engaged on the Project. 
 

19 Human rights 
 

19.1 The Recipient shall (and shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that its staff shall) at all times comply with the provisions 
of the Human Rights Act 1998 in the performance of the Agreement as if the Recipient were a public body (as defined in the 
Human Rights Act 1998). 
 

19.2 The Recipient shall undertake, or refrain from undertaking, such acts as Salix requests so as to enable Salix to comply with its 
obligations under the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

20 Financial Management and Prevention of Bribery, Corruption, Fraud and Other Irregularity  
 

20.1 The Recipient will at all times comply with all applicable Laws, statutes and regulations relating to anti-bribery and anti-
corruption, including but not limited to the Bribery Act. 
 

20.2 The Recipient must have a sound administration and audit process, including internal financial controls to safeguard against 
fraud, theft, money laundering, counter terrorist financing or any other impropriety, or mismanagement in connection with the 
administration of the Grant.  Salix may require that the Recipient’s internal/external auditors report on the adequacy or otherwise 
of those processed. 

 

20.3 All cases of fraud, theft or other financial irregularity (whether proven or suspected) relating to the Project and/or use of the 
Grant must be notified to Salix as soon as they are identified. The Recipient shall explain to Salix what steps are being taken to 
investigate the fraud, theft or financial irregularity and shall keep Salix informed about the progress of any such investigation.   
Salix may however request that the matter is referred to external auditors or other third parties for investigation as required. 

 

20.4 Salix will have the right, at its absolute discretion, to insist that the Recipient addresses any actual or suspected fraud, theft or 
other financial irregularity and/or to suspend future payment of the Grant to the Recipient. Any grounds for suspecting fraud, 
theft or financial irregularity includes what the Recipient, acting with due care, should have suspected as well as what is actually 
proven. 

 

20.5 For the purposes of this Clause 20, “financial irregularity” includes (but is not limited to) potential fraud or other impropriety, 
mismanagement, and the use of the Grant for any purpose other than those stipulated in the Agreement.  The Recipient may 
be required to provide statements and evidence to Salix or the appropriate organisation as part of pursuing sanctions, criminal 
or civil proceedings.   

Agenda Page 56 Agenda Item 8



  11 / 12 
 

 
21 Limitation of liability 

 
21.1 Salix accepts no liability for any consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may come about from the Recipient running the 

Project, the use of the Grant or from withdrawal of the Grant. The Recipient shall indemnify and hold harmless Salix, its 
employees, agents, officers or sub-contractors with respect to all claims, demands, actions, costs, expenses, losses, damages 
and all other liabilities arising from or incurred by reason of the actions and/or omissions of the Recipient in relation to the 
Project, the non-fulfilment of obligations of the Recipient under the Agreement or its obligations to third parties. 
 

21.2 Subject to Clause 21.1, Salix's liability under the Agreement is limited to the payment of the Grant. 
 

22 Warranties 
 

22.1 The Recipient warrants, undertakes and agrees that: 
 
22.1.1 it is a Public Sector Body; 

 
22.1.2 it has all necessary resources and expertise to deliver the Project (assuming due receipt of the Grant); 

 
22.1.3 it has not committed, nor shall it commit, any Prohibited Act; 

 
22.1.4 it shall at all times comply with all relevant legislation and all applicable codes of practice and other similar codes or 

recommendations, and shall notify Salix immediately of any significant departure from such legislation, codes or 
recommendations; 
 

22.1.5 it shall comply with the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and any other acts, orders, 
regulations and codes of practice relating to health and safety, which may apply to employees and other persons working 
on the Project; 
 

22.1.6 it has and shall keep in place adequate procedures for dealing with any conflicts of interest; 
 

22.1.7 it has and shall keep in place systems to deal with the prevention of fraud and/or administrative malfunction; 
 

22.1.8 all financial and other information concerning the Recipient which has been disclosed to Salix is to the best of its 
knowledge and belief, true and accurate; 
 

22.1.9 it is not subject to any contractual or other restriction imposed by its own or any other organisation's rules or regulations 
or otherwise which may prevent or materially impede it from meeting its obligations in connection with the Grant; 
 

22.1.10 it is not aware of anything in its own affairs, which it has not disclosed to Salix or any of Salix's advisers, which might 
reasonably have influenced the decision of Salix to make the Grant on the terms contained in the Agreement; and 
 

22.1.11 since the date of its last accounts there has been no material change in its financial position or prospects which would, 
in the reasonable opinion of Salix, adversely affect the Recipient’s ability to deliver the Project in accordance with the 
Project Programme, the Grant Application and the Agreement. 

 
23 Change of Control 

 
23.1 The Recipient shall notify Salix immediately in writing and as soon as the Recipient is aware (or ought reasonably to be aware) 

that it is anticipating, undergoing, undergoes or has undergone a Change of Control, provided such notification does not 
contravene any law. 
 

23.2 The Recipient shall ensure that any notification made pursuant to Clause 23.1 shall set out full details of the Change of Control 
including the circumstances suggesting and/or explaining the Change of Control. 

 

23.3 Where the Grant has been awarded to a consortium and the Recipient has entered into a collaboration agreement, the 
notification required under Clause 23.1 shall include any changes to the consortium members as well as the Recipient.  

 

23.4 Following notification of a Change of Control, and unless Salix gave prior consent to the Change of Control, Salix shall be 
entitled to exercise its rights under Clause 17.1.16 by providing the Recipient with notification of its proposed action in writing 
within three (3) months of: 

 

23.4.1 being notified in writing that a Change of Control is anticipated or is in contemplation or has occurred; or 
 

23.4.2 where no notification has been made, the date that Salix becomes aware that a Change of Control is anticipated or is 
in contemplation or has occurred. 

 
24 Duration 

 
24.1 Except where otherwise specified, the terms of the Agreement shall apply from the Grant Start Date until the anniversary of 

expiry of the Grant Period or for so long as any Grant monies remain unspent by the Recipient, whichever is longer. 
 

24.2 Any obligations under the Agreement that remain unfulfilled following the expiry or  termination of the Agreement shall survive 
such expiry or termination and continue in full force and effect until they have been fulfilled. 
 

25 Assignment 

Agenda Page 57 Agenda Item 8



  12 / 12 
 

 
25.1 The Recipient may not, without the prior written consent of Salix, assign, transfer, sub-contract, or in any other way make over 

to any third party the benefit and/or the burden of the Agreement or, except as contemplated as part of the Project, transfer or 
pay to any other person any part of the Grant. 
 

26 Waiver 
 

26.1 No failure or delay by either party to exercise any right or remedy under the Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any 
other right or remedy. 
 

27 Notices 
 

27.1 All notices and other communications in relation to the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly 
given if personally delivered or mailed (first class postage prepaid) to the address of the relevant party, as referred to above or 
otherwise notified in writing. If personally delivered all such communications shall be deemed to have been given when received 
(except that if received on a non-working day or after 5.00 pm on any working day they shall be deemed received on the next 
working day) and if mailed all such communications shall be deemed to have been given and received on the second working 
day following such mailing. 
 

28 No partnership or agency 
 

28.1 The Agreement shall not create any partnership or joint venture between Salix and the Recipient, nor any relationship of principal 
and agent, nor authorise any party to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the other party. 
 

29 Joint and several liability 
 

29.1 Where the Recipient is not a company nor an incorporated entity with a distinct legal personality of its own, the individuals who 
enter into and sign the Agreement on behalf of the Recipient shall be jointly and severally liable for the Recipient's obligations 
and liabilities arising under the Agreement. 
 

30 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 
 

30.1 Except as expressly provided in Clause 30.2, the Agreement does not and is not intended to confer any contractual benefit on 
any person pursuant to the terms of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, save that the Secretary of State may rely 
upon and enforce any provision of the Agreement against the Recipient. 
 

30.2 The Agreement is also made for the benefit of the Secretary of State from time to time and all provisions of the Agreement shall 
be enforceable by the Secretary of State to the fullest extent permitted by law as if they were a party to the Agreement in place 
of Salix. 
 

31 Governing law 
 

31.1 The Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England and the parties irrevocably submit 
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts. 
 

32 Entire agreement 
 

32.1 The Agreement (together with all documents attached to or referred to within it) constitutes the entire agreement and 
understanding between the parties in relation to the Grant and supersedes any previous agreement or understanding between 
them in relation to such subject matter. 

Agenda Page 58 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

1 
 

 

 

 

Project Title Chorley Town Hall Energy Audit 

Issue Date 15/10/21 

Project / Reference No. EMS294 

Document No.  

  

Site Address Market St, Chorley PR7 1DP 

Date of Audit 27/09/2021 

Name of Auditor Oliver Riley/Dayanne Davis 

  

  

 

 

Version No. R1 

Issued by: Dayanne Davis 

Issued to: Organisation 

Dr John Hindley Twelve Trees 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Silver Energy Management Solutions Ltd 

St Clare House, 30/33 Minories 

London EC3N 1DD 

T: 020 3900 1509 

 

Agenda Page 59 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

2 
 

1 Site Information 

1.1 Site Location Plan and Context 

 

 

Figure 1 – Chorley Town Hall (photos denote street view positions). 

Agenda Page 60 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

3 
 

 

Figure 2 – Town Hall main entrance. 

 

Figure 3 – Town Hall entrance to basement from Mealhouse Ln. 

Agenda Page 61 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

4 
 

1.2 Introduction 

A site energy audit has been undertaken, with the principal objective being to support an application 

for the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS).  

The existing building and services have been examined, along with baseline information such as 

energy consumption, DEC and drawings. 

Opportunities for eligible decarbonisation technologies have been identified and the likely level of 

energy and carbon savings quantified. A traffic-light system has been used to summarise for each 

initiative: 

 Ineligible / not viable or cost effective 

 Viable but with concerns 

 Good viability 

1.3 Site description 

1.3.1 Overview 

The site is a Town Hall in Chorley constructed in 1879 and refurbished in 2005.  

The building is formed of three floors, a basement and a full-height atrium/hall. In addition to the 

building the site contains a car park.  

Wall construction is stone. Part of the roof is pitched and a solar PV array is present on the southern 

area of the pitched roof. 

1.3.2 Information for Salix form Step 2 ‘Building Details’ 

Building Name or Number* Chorley Town Hall 

UPRN (Unique Property Reference number) 200004064422 

Display Energy Certificate Rating (DEC) C – 52 (2018) 

Building Age (Years) 142 

Postcode (buildings must be on the same 
site)* 

PR7 1DP 

Building Type* Town Hall 

Gross Internal Area (m
2
)* 

Basement: 1083.51 
Ground Floor: 1083.51 (approx.) 
First Floor: 1093.45 
Second Floor: 353.87 

Number of Floors 3 

Existing Annual Fossil Fuel Use (kWh p.a.)* 237,363 

Existing Annual Electricity Use (kWh p.a.) 203,111.7 

MPRN 
(Gas Meter Number) 
- if applicable 

5363309 

MPAN 
(Electricity Meter Number) 

1600000024702 

Peak heat loss - pre improvements (kW) 249.49 

Peak heat loss - post improvements* (kW) 249.49 

Existing total cooling load - if applicable (kW) N/A 

 

1.4 Site Services Summary 

The site is served heating via gas-fired boilers in a central boilerhouse, serving radiators via a wet 

vented gravity-pressurised system. Domestic Hot Water (DHW) is generated by an electric water 

heater in a separate plantroom in the basement.  

Agenda Page 62 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

5 
 

The building is naturally ventilated throughout. 

Comfort cooling to parts of the building is provided by five outdoor DX air-conditioning units which are 

located at either side of the basement entrance from Mealhouse Ln, plus two on the flat roof. 

1.5 Gas supply 

Incoming low pressure gas passes through a single fiscal meter located in a small room adjacent to 

the boilerhouse, before branching to serve the boilers. 

 

Figure 4 – Gas meter arrangement, 2” (DN50) pipework. 

1.6 Heating System 

1.6.1 System Descrtiption 

The site is heated via central gas-fired boilers serving radiators and fan-convectors via a a wet vented 

gravity-pressurised system in steel pipework.  

The gas boilers do not serve a Domestic Hot Water (DHW) load, which is generated by an electric 

water heater. 

The boilerhouse is located in the basement. It is compact with little space internally to accommodate 

new equipment.  

There are a total of three operational De Dietrich boilers serving a common 4” (DN100) header via 

duty/standby pumps and a mixing valve. The original system consisted of four boilers but one of the 

boilers has not been functioning for roughly a year. From the header, a circuit with boiler circulating 

pumps is present.  

The boilers are flued into a 12” (DN300) common flue header and stack which exits the basement 

side wall and runs up the external face of the building. 

Agenda Page 63 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

6 
 

 

Figure 5 – Gas-fired boilers in the plantroom. 

 

Figure 6 – Domestic Hot Water (DHW) system. 

A separate wall-hung gas-fired boiler system supplies heat to a certain area of the building believed to 

be the Extension, via a wet independently-pressurised system. 

 

Agenda Page 64 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

7 
 

 

Figure 7 – Separate gas-fired boiler system. 

 

Control is via a simple panel incorporating weather compensator with night set back and time clocks 

for zones. There was no BMS present. The operating temperatures of the system were not displayed, 

however according to the weather compensator it could be expected to be c.73°C at -5°C outside 

temperature and c.55°C at +5°C. 

Agenda Page 65 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

8 
 

 

Figure 8 - Weather Compensator 

Condition appraisal is generally acceptable. Minimal corrosion was observed. Insulation was in good 

order with exception of a few points as shown in the picture below. Whilst the boilers appear well 

maintained, at 33 years old they reached end of useful life, which according to CIBSE Guide M is 25 

years. 

Decarbonisation potential: Y 

The heating system could be decarbonised using an Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) system, 

either in hybrid with the existing gas boilers or as full-capacity 

 

Agenda Page 66 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

9 
 

 

Figure 9 – Pipework insulation. 

 

1.6.2 Schematic arrangement 

 

 

Agenda Page 67 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

10 
 

 

Figure 10 – Schematic arrangement and layout 

 

  

Agenda Page 68 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

11 
 

1.6.3 Boilers specs 

Main Boilers 

Make  De Dietrich 

Model  CF247 

Age of system* (years)  33 

Boiler type Sectional cast iron 

Indicative life (years, CIBSE Guide M) 25 

Can boilers be categorised ‘End of life’? Yes 

Output load per unit* (kW)  65 (estimate) 

Number of duty units*  3 (originally 4 but 1 is out of commission) 

Total output load (kW)  195 (260) 

Current Seasonal Efficiency* (%)  75% (est) 

 

Extension Boilers 

Make  Intergas 

Model  Rapid 32 

Age of system* (years)  0 

Boiler type Wall-hung 

Indicative life (years, CIBSE Guide M) 20 
Can boilers be categorised ‘End of life’? No 

Output load per unit* (kW)  32 

Number of duty units*  1 

Total output load (kW)  32 

Current Seasonal Efficiency* (%)  85 *(est)% 

1.6.4 Main pump specs 

Description 
No. 
Off 

Manufacturer Model DOM/Age Capacity Comments 

Distribution pumps 2 Grundfos Magna D50-120F  800W  

1.6.5 Balance of plant specs for Extension system 

Description 
No. 
Off 

Manufacturer Model DOM/Age Capacity Comments 

Expansion 
vessel  

1 Zilmet  
130 CAL-
PRO 

 500L 
Precharge 2.5bar, Pmax 
6bar, Tmax         -
10/99⁰C 

Pressurisation 
unit 

1 Mikrofill Mikrofill 3 2016  
Power supply 230V, 
Max inlet pressure 5bar 

Expansion 
vessel 

1 Flamco Airfix P 2020 35L 
Precharge 2.7bar, Pmax 
10bar, Tmax         -
10/100⁰C 

1.6.6 Domestic hot water generation  

The DHW for the building is supplied via the following unit located in the boilerhouse: 

Description 
No. 
Off 

Manufacturer Model DOM/Age Capacity Comments 

Electric 
immersion 

1 Brodex Direct 20 2005 250L 6kW 

 

Upgrade potential: No. Due to higher temps required and additional pipework to feed the DHW 

it is not proposed to integrate it to the ASHP scheme. 

Agenda Page 69 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

12 
 

1.7 Cooling System: 

 

Description 
No. 
Off 

Manufacturer Model DOM/Age Capacity  Comments 

R410A DX Mr 
Slim 

3 Mitsubishi  
PUHZ-
P125YHA 

2008/2016   

R407C DX Mr 
Slim 

1 Mitsubishi PU-P5YGAA 2004   

R407C DX Mr 
Slim 

1 Mitsubishi 
PUH-
PV3GAA 

   

DX Mr Slim 2 Mitsubishi TBC TBC  
Located on 
roof 

 
 

Upgrade potential: N. Split DX units are not viable to integrate into a heat pump solution. 

 

 

Figure 11 – Air-conditioning units. 

Agenda Page 70 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

13 
 

1.8 Electrical System: 

1.8.1 General 

The current site electrical infrastructure date is unknown. The site appears to have a substation in the 

basement with external doors accessed from Mealhouse Lane. It was not accessible. The electricity 

supply capacity is not known. 

 

Figure 12 – Substation doors. 

1.8.2 Solar PV system 

A Solar Photovoltaic (PV) system is aleady present on site, comprising a total of 40 panels on the 

South facing pitched roof of the Lancastrian Room. The rated output of the system is unknown but an 

estimate based on number of panels, orientation and solar irradiance shows this could potentially be 

between 9 – 13 kWp. The age of the system is unkown. There does not appear to be any remaining 

suitable roof area availabe, hence we have concluded that there is no additional PV that can be 

recommended for the site. 

Expansion potential: No 

1.9 Building Fabric 

1.9.1 Walls 

The wall construction of the building is 19
th
 Century solid stone.  It is presumed to have a U-value of 2 

W/m
2
K.  

Insulation potential: N 

Agenda Page 71 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

14 
 

1.9.2 Roof Construction 

The roofs are pitched, of timber structure and covered with a traditional tile roof cover. The pitched 

roof over the easternmost part of the building running N-S was accessed via a hatch. It was found to 

be laid with c300mm rockwool type insulation.  

It was not possible to access the roof above the Lancastrian, which apparently requires rope access. 

It is assumed uninsulated. 

Upgrade potential: N 

 

 

Figure 13 – Roof insulation. 

1.9.3 Window Construction 

Approximately 50% of windows are double glazed. The remainder have some secondary glazing.  
 

Insulation potential: N 

1.10 Lighting 

The lighting is predominantly:  

 Fluorescent 600x600mm quad tube T8 throughout the offices / meeting rooms. 

 T12 strip 1200mm in the basement 

 Compact Fluorescent (CFL) and T12 in the circulation spaces  

 CFL, halogen and LED mix in the atrium and Lancastrian room 

Agenda Page 72 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

15 
 

 

Description Wattage Number (approx.) 

 Quad 600x600 18w T8 HF 76 154  

 Single 1200mm 36w T8 HF 38 TBC 

 Twin 1200mm 36w T8 HF 75 14 

 CFL Twin TBC 57 

 Halogen TBC 20 

 LED TBC TBC  

 

Updrage potential: yes with LED fittings 

Agenda Page 73 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

16 
 

2 Site Energy Consumption 

2.1 Gas 

Annual gas consumption in 2020 is cited at 237,363 kWh p.a. 

Annual gas cost is £504,681.21. 

The derived gas unit tariff is 2.13 p/kWh. 

2.2 Electricity 

Half-hourly data for 2019 was provided. Annual electricity consumption 2019 was 203,111.7 kWh p.a. 

Annual electricity cost is £2,242,353.17. 

The derived electricity unit tariff is 11.04 p/kWh 

 

 

The graph above indicates that peak site electrical load occurs around midday, with an increase in 

load in the winter months. This reflects an increased lighting demand, and potentially auxiliary heating 

(several portable electric heaters were observed on the walk-round). The chart possibly also displays 

offset demand by Solar PV generation which has a greater effect in summer. 

Maximum site load over any half hour period has been calculated at 37.8 kW 

2.3 Peak heat loss calculation 

Based on Salix Heat Loss tool v1.0; full calculation and assumptions given in Appendices 

Peak heat demand =  249.49 kW   

 -

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

 30

 35

 40

 45

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

E
le

c
tr

ic
it
y
 d

e
m

a
n

d
 k

W

Hour of the day

Electricity incoming meter (calendar year 2018)
January

February

March

April

May

June

July

August

September

October

November

December

Agenda Page 74 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

17 
 

Note this is similar to the overall installed boiler capacity. It is highly sensitive to air change rate, which 

has been assumed at 0.5ach/hour. This may actually be high if the windows are usually closed, as 

was typically the case on our visit.  

Agenda Page 75 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

18 
 

3 Assessment of Potential Decarbonisation Options 

3.1 Whole Building Approach  

Based on the information available from the DEC certificate and collected on site during the survey, a 

number of opportunities to reduce the energy and heat demand on site have been examined:  

 Glazing. Double glazing is present throughout. 

 Loft insulation. 300mm loft insulation throughout.  

 Lighting. LED lighting upgrade is proposed. 

 Low Carbon Heating System. Several options have been considered and a 

recommendation made as set out below. 

3.2 Low Carbon Heating System  

3.2.1 Technology Options Considered 

Air Source Heat pumps (ASHP) have been identified as a suitable low carbon heating technology. 

Biomass heating has been discounted on the grounds of air quality and plant space. Ground Source 

Heat pumps have been discounted on the grounds of lack of available opportunity.  

3.2.1.1 Site considerations 

The limiting factor for ASHP conversion is external plant space, which is at a particular premium on 

this site. Two areas have been identified: 

1. Flat roof areas to the North and South of the central skylight. Two separate areas are 

available, each of approximately 5 x 5m. They are bounded by hand guardrails. This route is 

favoured, although cranage would be required to place plant. Services route to the basement 

needs identified. Visual impact from street level must be considered. 

2. Basement level void where bin store is located off Mealhouse Lane. This area is in currently 

in use by bins also used for acces to the basement and the electrical substation. There is no 

other viable obvious place for the bins and hence this area is not considered viable. 

3. An option raised on site was to use adjacent car parks. However we consider this unviable, 

on account of additional costs that would be caused by a permanent enclosure, street works, 

trenching and re-instatement, road closures and long-term loss of car-park spaces. 

Agenda Page 76 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

19 
 

 

 

Flat roof areas 

(view from South) 

Existing PV 

N flat roof area 

(view from North) 

Bin store void 

Agenda Page 77 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

20 
 

 

 

The existing boiler room has no significant potential for additional plant. External space is at a 

premium, with a identified as the most viable spot for new plant. 

The heating system currently operates with a winter ‘set point’ of circa 70°C flow temperature; 

weather compensation is used to lower the heating flow temperature in mild weather. No fabric 

improvements are proposed, and hence whilst it may be possible through operational trial to reduce 

this slightly (i.e. by say 5°C), the nature of existing heat emitters – predominantly radiators – are such 

that it cannot be significantly lowered. Redesign/renewal of the heat emitters is considered cost-

prohibitive for this scheme. It should be noted anecdotally that some parts of the building struggle to 

achieve comfort on winter, and several auxiliary heaters were noted.  

DHW is currently generated by electric immersion in a storage tank. This is not co-located in the boiler 

room, being some 15m away within the basement level. It is not proposed to integrate DHW supply 

into heat pump proposals via new calorifiers. 

The following two options have been considered for ASHP integration: 

1. Integrated hybrid system with lead ASHP plus modern condensing gas boilers for peak 

lopping (winter addition). 

2. Complete gas replacement with a high temperature solution: either an ASHP with multi stage 

compression, or ASHP plus WSHP in series with integral buffers to provide high temperature 

output. 

There are advantages and disadvantages to both approaches, which are explored in more detail 

below: 

3.2.1.2 Option 1: ‘Hybrid’ – ASHP with New Gas Boilers 

This option allows the baseload to be supplied by the heat pump, and the peak loads or additional 

loads in winter to be supplied by the gas boilers. The heat pump will raise the water temperature to a 

nominal 60°C before, if the external temperature justifies it, feeding into a boiler which would raise the 

temperature to the desired level. 

Under this option, the new gas boilers would be sized to allow for additional heat requirements. The 

current end of life boilers would be replaced by rack mounted units, to provide peak lopping and a 

small amount of redundancy in the event of a heat pump being out of service. 

As this option involves replacing the boilers, this option also gives a reduced risk to the system if for 

any reason the heat pump experienced a fault. In this scenario, the gas boilers would take over the 

primary heating and there would be no break in heat supply to the site. 

N flat roof area  S flat roof area  

Agenda Page 78 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

21 
 

Benefits: 

1. This approach allows for less capacity to be installed for the heat pump element. Experience 

has identified that sizing the heat pump based on a nominal 50% of the installed boiler 

capacity provides 80 to 85% of the annual consumption, once the BMS is upgraded to the 

new regime. This only leads to a 12% reduction in CO2 savings over the life of the heat pump. 

2. Adopting this approach reduces capital cost, and allows existing distribution and heat emitters 

to be retained, as flow temperatures similar to those existing can be regenerated with the 

boilers used for top up during the coldest periods only. 

3. Using a hybrid system reduces the additional electrical kVa requirements for the site, which 

leads to lower electrical upgrade costs, and less cost impact from the DNO. In some cases, 

these costs can be excessive and render the projects non-viable from a financial viewpoint. 

4. Any hybrid system, which essentially uses a dual fuel approach, also provides a larger degree 

of redundancy, should one of the fuel sources be interrupted. 

5. It may be considered that the solution does not truly correlate to decarbonisation, as there is 

still an element of fossil fuel technology included in the proposed solution. However, carbon 

savings are only minimally affected, and considerable carbon savings are achieved using 

hybrid systems. 

Risks: 

6. The BMS and system controls need to ensure that the heat pump is selected as the main 

heating source, and that the boilers are held off, in order to ensure that expected CO2 savings 

are delivered. However, with established design process and thermal store integration, along 

with BMS modifications, this can easily be achieved. 

7. It may be considered that the solution does not truly correlate to decarbonisation, as there is 

still an element of fossil fuel technology included in the proposed solution. However, carbon 

savings are only minimally affected, and considerable carbon savings are achieved using 

hybrid systems. 

3.2.1.3 Option 2: Replace gas plant with High Temperature Heat Pumps 

For this option, the gas plant would be removed, and the heat required by the system would solely be 

supplied by the heat pump. This requires two stage compression within the heat pump to generate the 

high flow temperatures required for the system.  

Due to space constraints, we do not consider it viable to provide the full heating load via ASHP. 

3.2.2 Scope of Recommended Option 

Due to increased cost and space requirements of option 2, and the inherent risk caused by not having 

a redundancy measure in place, it is suggested that option 1 is the most suitable and feasible 

solution. We propose that a Hybrid ASHP solution be incorporated. 

Review of basic scope of preferred option: 

 Nominal 200kW ASHP, currently based on 2 x Hidros LZT 1202 HA XL heat pumps. The 

ASHP needs to be placed outside and has dimensions of circa 4.0m (L) x 1.1m (W) x 1.8m 

(H). 

 5,000 litres of thermal storage, located within the basement boiler room 

 New gas-fired boiler plant to produce minimum of 350kW, currently identified as 4 x Remeha 

Quinta 90kW rack mounted condensing boilers. 

 Balance of plant, as required. 

Schematically, the return from the heat distribution system would be routed via the heat pump, which 

would then feed the gas boilers and a thermal store. Removal of the existing boilers units and 

replacement with smaller rack mounted units will free up some space in the plantroom. 

Agenda Page 79 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

22 
 

The site currently operates on 4 x 85kW + 1 x 32kW (nominal) boilers, giving a current capacity of 

372kW nominal. The heat pumps have been sized to provide a nominal load of 200kW, with a further 

360kW of condensing boilers, giving a post upgrade capacity of 560kW. We will conduct further 

analysis at design stage to ensure capacity is sufficient for the site requirements. 

The preferred location for the ASHPs is one on each flat roof either side of the skylight. As each unit 

weighs approximately 1 ton, a structural assessment would be necessary. The location is directly 

above the existing boiler room, and the current flue route provides a pipework route as the flues are 

likely to be consolidated. 

As the existing boiler room is reasonably compact, we believe the proposed thermal stores would be 

best accomodated outside it. There is an empty room directly adjacent to the boiler room.  

3.2.3 Additional Measures 

On top of the heat pump solution, additional measures have been considered.  

3.2.3.1 Thermal Batteries 

There is also the potential to use thermal batteries as a heat store and charge these up overnight 

using low cost electricity. The battery uses a phase change material which melts as it absorbs thermal 

energy during the night, and then when the heat is required, the material freezes and releases the 

heat into the system. The downside of this technology is that it will increase the project cost 

dramatically and requires a large footprint to be able to offer the heat required by the system. For this 

reason, thermal batteries have not been proposed as part of this solution, however, could be installed 

in the future to further decrease the electricity consumption. 

3.2.3.2 Thermal Store 

A thermal store is recommended with the use of heat pumps to provide a constant load output for and 

to prevent any fluctuations in demand reducing the efficiency of the heat pump. Heat pumps work 

best when they are running for a prolonged period, unlike gas which can regulate itself quickly to the 

heat demand. The thermal store acts as a buffer between the system heat demand and the heat 

pump. Overnight the heat pump would heat both the pool and the thermal store, so they act as the 

heat store. This allows the heat pump to run most efficiently as it is not constantly trying to increase or 

decrease its’ output. It is estimated that including a thermal store would save up to 3% on the annual 

kWh consumption. 

3.2.3.3 Plant Room Upgrades 

It is proposed to integrate the two heating circuits into one heat source. It would be sensible to assess 

the controls and pumping arrangements at design stage. Currently there are several 3-port valves and 

fixed-speed pumps which could be optimised.  

3.2.3.4 Control Strategy 

The Low Carbon Heating solution for will benefit from the installation of a new BEMS system. This 

system will provide the ability to remotely control and monitor the new ASHP pump system and the 

existing boilers. It is proposed the BEMS system be established as a component of designing and 

commissioning the system. The system will then be monitored as part of the M & V strategy set out in 

section 4 of this document. 

3.2.3.5 System Feasibility Salix Application 3.3  

We have surveyed the building and completed a heat loss calculation using the Salix fabric tool, as 

shown in section 2.3. Using this as peak building heat load, allows us to size the heat pumps and 

auxiliary gas boiler plant to meet this demand, including required redundancy in the system. 

This provides a robust assessment of the building demand based on real time data, and we confirm 

that our selection of equipment meets the heating requirement for the site. 

Agenda Page 80 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

23 
 

 

a. Is the building fabric suitable for the proposed heat pump measure?   Yes 

b. Will the new system be supplying space heating, DHW or both?  Space heating 

c. Have heat emitters been sized for the flow temperature(s) set out?  Yes 

d. Have the cost of replacing emitters been included within the 

application?  
 N/A 

f. Have schematics been drawn for the design of the new system, including flow and 

return temperatures? If so please include in supporting info. 
Not at this stage 

  

g. Is a thermal store included within this design?  Yes 

a. All systems - Have you provided a specification for the chosen heat 

pump to confirm the Seasonal Coefficient of Performance (SCOP) for 
the given flow temperatures/operating conditions?  

 SCOP = 3.2 

 

3.2.3.6 Assessment of Current Electrical Infrastructure 

The current site electrical infrastructure is of unknown age. The maximum electrical load over any half 

hour period has been identified as 37.8 kW.  

The heat pumps selected each have a total input power of 47kW. Based on a power factor of 0.8 for 

ASHPs, this provides a kVa equivalent of nominally 58.75 kVa, which exceeds the current maximum 

supply capacity for the site, when combined with current maximum load, based on HHD analysis.  

It isn’t clear at this stage whether the site has its own separate electrical supply, or whether there is a 

dedicated sub-station at the overall site already, although this appears to be the case. This may help 

to improve the situation, and may allow electrical strengthening costs to be reduced. 

  

Agenda Page 81 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

24 
 

3.3 Summary of anticipated Energy Savings 

The following has been estimated based on the assumptions stated above: 

 

Baseline Gas Electricity 

 
237,363 kWh p.a. 203,112 kWh p.a. 

     
Decarbonisation Solution Gas Electricity 

 
kWh p.a. Saving % savings kWh p.a. Saving % savings 

Air Source Heat Pump 
 
135,296.91 

80% 
-  42,280.28 
 

-21% 

LED Lighting - 0% 32,498 16% 

Total 
 
135,296.91 

80% -                  9,782.28 -5% 

 

 

Agenda Page 82 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

25 
 

4 Appendix A – Additional Drawings and Information 

 

Agenda Page 83 Agenda Item 8



Energy Audit 

26 
 

 

Agenda Page 84 Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

 

Appointment of Chief Executive 
 

Is this report confidential? No  
 

 

Is this decision key? Not applicable  
 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. To propose to Members the appointment of a new Chief Executive, shared with South 
Ribble Borough Council. 

 
 
Recommendations to Council  
 

2. That following a meeting of the Shared Services Joint Committee Appointments Panel 
on 25 March 2022, Chris Sinnott be appointed as the Council’s new Shared Chief 
Executive with effect from 1 January 2023. 
 

3. That the new Shared Chief Executive also undertakes the statutory role of Head of 
Paid Services and is the Council’s Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer. 

 
Reasons for recommendations 
 

4. The Council has committed to the creation of a permanent Shared Chief Executive 
post.  
 

5. The Shared Services Joint Committee Appointments Panel agreed unanimously that 
Chris Sinnott be recommended to Council for formal appointment. 

 
Other options considered and rejected 
 

6. Not to fill this this post, which would leave the Council without a Head of Paid Services 
which is required by legislation. 

 
Corporate priorities 
 

7. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: 
 

Report of Meeting Date 

Chief Executive 

(Introduced by Executive 

Member (Economic 

Development and Public 

Service Reform)) 

Council Tuesday, 19 April 2022 

Agenda Page 85 Agenda Item 9



 
 

Involving residents in improving their local 

area and equality of access for all 

A strong local economy 

Clean, safe and healthy communities An ambitious council that does more to 

meet the needs of residents and the local 

area 

 

Background to the report 
 

8. The post of Shared Chief Executive was created in November 2020 as a permanent post 
between the two councils at a total cost of £145,000 shared 50:50. 
 

9. The shared Chief Executive is the Council’s Head of Paid Services, the Returning Officer 
and Electoral Registration Officer. 

 
10. The current postholder, Gary Hall, accepted the position on a fixed term basis until 31 

December 2022.  Following his departure, the post will be vacant. 
 

11. As agreed by Council, recruitment to the position commenced on 28 February 2022. 
 

12. The full selection process as presented and agreed by Council was undertaken by the 
candidate: 

 

Forum  Attendees 

Stakeholder Panel Gary Crowe (Superintendent Lancashire Police) 
Diane Gradwell (Chief Executive Lancashire 
West Citizens Advice) 
Clare Russell (Principal and CEO Runshaw 
College) 

Staff Panel Members of Employee Voice/Staff Matters and 
wider volunteers 

1-2-1 meetings with the Leader of 
each Council 

Cllr Alistair Bradley 
 
 
 
Cllr Paul Foster 

Technical Interview with another 
CEO 

Tony Oakman – Bolton Council 

Shared Services Appointment Panel Shared appointments committee 
 
NW Employers  
 

 
13. Feedback at all stages of the selection process was very positive, and the view of 

internal and external stakeholders was that the candidate was suitable for the role. 
 

14. Following a full interview by the Shared Services Joint Committee Appointments Panel, 
and consideration of the feedback from the assessment centre, the panel agreed 
unanimously that Chris Sinnott be recommended to Council for appointment as Shared 
Chief Executive. 

 
 

Agenda Page 86 Agenda Item 9



 
 

Climate change and air quality 
 
15. The work noted in this report does not impact the climate change and sustainability 

targets of the Councils Green Agenda and all environmental considerations are in place. 
 
Equality and diversity 

16. The recruitment process has been undertaken in accordance with the agreed 
Recruitment, Selection, and On-boarding policy and there are no equality implications 
requiring consideration. 

 
Risk 
 

17. There are no outstanding risks to Council agreeing this appointment.  Failure to 

appoint a Chief Executive would introduce significant risks to the Council. 

 
Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer 
 
18. The budget for the Chief Executive post is within the approved Council budget. 
 
Comments of the Monitoring Officer 
 
19. The proposed appointment has been brought forward following council policies and 

procedures. The appointment to the role of chief executive is a council decision and it 
is proper this decision is made by full council.  

 
There are no background papers to this report 

 

 

Report Author: Email: Telephone: Date: 

Hollie Walmsley (HR 
Manager) 

Hollie.Walmsley@chorley.gov.uk 01257 
515372 

6 April 
2022 

 

Agenda Page 87 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 22 February 2022 of Council
	5 Executive Cabinet
	6 Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Task and Finish Groups
	7 Governance Committee
	8 Decarbonisation of the Town Hall
	Appendix 1 for Decarbonisation of the Town Hall
	Appendix 2 for Decarbonisation of the Town Hall
	Appendix 3 for Decarbonisation of the Town Hall

	9 Appointment of Chief Executive

